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Directors’ Report 
 
The Directors of P2P Transport Limited (formerly P2P Transport Pty Ltd) (‘the Company’ or ‘P2P’) present their report 
together with the consolidated financial statements of the Company and its controlled entities (‘the Group’ or ‘P2P Group’) 
for the year ended 30 June 2018. To comply with the provisions of the Corporations Act 2001, the directors’ report is as 
follows: 
 
The names and particulars of the directors in office at any time during the financial year up to the date of this 
report are: 
 

Name Office Appointment Date Resignation Date 
Mr Matthew Reynolds Non-executive Director and Chairman 22/11/2017 - 
Mr Thomas Varga                   Managing Director and Chief Executive Officer 03/03/2017 - 
Mr Harry Katsiabanis              Executive Director 03/03/2017 - 
Mr. Greg Webb  Executive Director 03/08/2018 - 
Mr Bruno D’Amico                Executive Director 03/03/2017 22/11/2017 
Mr Chip Beng Yeoh                Non-executive Director 22/11/2017 - 
Mr Peter Cook                        Non-executive Director 22/11/2017 - 
Mr Gary James Deigan                        Non-executive Director 03/03/2017 22/11/2017 

 
                
INCORPORATION 
P2P Transport Limited was incorporated on 3rd March 2017 as a holding company. The Company was admitted to the 
official list of the Australian Securities Exchange (‘ASX’) on 13 December 2017. 
 
PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES 
P2P is an integrated fleet management company focused on the provision of vehicles on a rental basis to independent 
professional drivers operating in the point-to-point passenger transport industry. P2P does not own any taxi plates or 
licenses, instead it leases these from either government authorities or private owners and operates its vehicles (assets) to 
provide a rental solution to professional drivers. Through major operational sites P2P delivers a vertically integrated solution 
that includes mechanical, panel, administration, support and rostering all from one location in-house. 
 
STATE OF AFFAIRS 
On the 3 March 2017, P2P was formally incorporated through the merger of the Sydney and Melbourne operations. 
These businesses included all vehicles, support teams, mechanical and panel operations. The businesses included: 

 
• Taxilink Pty Ltd 
• TGT No 1 Pty Ltd 
• A&S Sidhu Investments Pty Ltd 
• Taxi Management Solutions Pty Ltd 
• CabCare Pty Ltd 
• D.Lee’s Taxi Management Pty Ltd  
• Temptrans Pty Ltd 
• Unicross Nominees Pty Ltd 

 
On the 26 October 2017, P2P acquired a Brisbane based business ((‘BWT Group’) that operated a fleet of 
approximately 260 vehicles, support teams, mechanical and panel operations as well as all brands and trademarks. 
This business was located in Brisbane, Gold Coast and Toowoomba and included: 

 
• BWTM Pty Ltd 
• Taxis Qld Pty Ltd 
• A.B.C Bodyworks Pty Ltd 
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Directors’ Report (cont’d) 
 
P2P Group now has reached a critical mass that created Australia’s largest vertically integrated passenger transport fleet 
and delivered an eastern seaboard footprint that formed the basis of the business to be listed on the ASX. On the 13th of 
December 2017 P2P Transport formally listed on the ASX. The listing included: 

 
• Sites in Sydney, Melbourne, Tullamarine, Gold Coast, Brisbane and Toowoomba; 
• Total of 720 vehicles across the eastern seaboard that included taxis, hire cars and ridesharing vehicles, 

albeit heavily focused on the taxi fleet; 
• Vertically integrated infrastructure on each location that at the very least included all mechanical, 

administration and rostering and in most locations included panel services; 
 
 
On the 12 of January 2018, P2P acquired Professional Taxis Gold Coast a Queensland based business that operated a 
fleet of approximately 110 vehicles. 
 
There were no other significant changes in the state of affairs of the Group during the financial year.  
 
REVIEW OF OPERATIONS 
 
The Group’s rapidly growing fleet of approximately 1,100 taxi, corporate and ride-share vehicles managed from 8 sites 
situated in Victoria (Melbourne), NSW (Sydney) and Queensland (Brisbane, Gold Coast and Toowoomba), positions the 
Group as one of the largest fleet management operators of its kind in Australia. 
 
Operational highlights for the year ended 30 June 2018 included: 
 

• Successful corporate restructure and IPO in December 2017 
o STI and LTI programs have been developed for key staff; 
o 100% retention of senior staff since IPO; 
o no commercial concerns expressed by suppliers as a result of the IPO and subsequent growth 

strategies implemented; 
o new governance arrangements, policies and processes have been, and continue to be, 

established. 
 

• Business synergies 
o BWTM (Brisbane) has seen the closure of the Yeronga site in February and integration of all 

vehicles into the existing Albion and Coopers Plains facilities delivering cost savings; 
o With Professional Taxis Gold Coast acquisition on the 12th January 2018, Ashmore site has been 

consolidated into the Southport site delivering cost savings; 
o Part supplier rationalization already underway delivering synergy savings above expected levels. 

This will continue with a new project aimed at supplier consolidation and national service 
coverage. 
 

• FY18 revenue showing overall growth from FY17  
o particular strength in acquiring pre-existing assets in the Sydney and Gold Coast market 
o a cautious approach to the Melbourne market as the new reforms continue to emerge 
o supports future revenue growth through acquisitions 

 
• Market remains particularly strong as driver and passenger demand has shown an improvement over 

the past 12 months. 
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Directors’ Report (cont’d) 
 
Group financial results 
 

 
Revenue 
 
The Group revenue increased by 267% of $23.8 million from $8.9 million in FY 17 to $32.7 in the current year. This 
increase is largely due to the following factors:  
 

• Fleet revenue increased by $23.5 million as a result of an increase in fleet size of approximately 834 
vehicles. This was driven by major acquisitions in Brisbane and Gold Coast, along with significant fleet 
acquisitions in NSW; 

• Service revenue increased by $1 million as a result of major acquisitions in Brisbane and Gold Coast 
and continuing growth in the Victorian prestige panel repair; and 

• Reduction in accident recovery income by $0.8 million. 
 
 

Total expenses 
 
The Group total expenses (inclusive of cost of sales, employee benefits expense and other operating expenses) increased 
from $8.1 million in FY 17 to $37.9 in the current year. This increase is largely due to the following factors:  
 

• Increase in costs associated with the increase in fleet size as a result of major acquisitions in Brisbane 
and Gold Coast, along with significant fleet acquisition in NSW; 

• Increase in employee benefits expense as a result of major acquisitions made during the year and 
additional resources required as a result of the IPO.   

 
 
EBITDA  
 
The Group recorded EBITDA of $16.9 million loss in FY18 compared to $0.78 million profit in FY17. EBITDA for the 
current year has largely impacted by one off IPO expenses of $11.8 million. 
 
 
Loss After Income Tax  
 
The Group recorded a statutory loss after income tax of $37.9 million in FY18 comparted to a $ 0.05 million profit after 
income tax in FY17. 
 
 
Net Interest and Net Debt 
 
Net interest charges increased from $0.11 million in FY17 to $14.5 million in FY18.  This increase is largely due to finance 
costs associated with one off capital raising at IPO of $13.9 million. The Group held total bank facilities of $13.7 million 
and had $6.7 million drawn as at 30 June 2018 with $3.6 million cash at banks.  
 
The Group’s gearing ratio (net debt/net debt + equity) at 30 June 2018 was 15% (30 June 2017: 20%). 
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Directors’ Report (cont’d) 
 
 
Operating Cash Flow 
 
Cash flow used in operating activities for the year ended 30 June 2018 was $8.8 million with a net increase in cash of $3.6 
million after investing and financing movements. 
 
NET ASSETS 
 
The net assets of the Group have increased by $12.2 million, from $6.1 million at 30 June 2017 to $18.3 million at 30 June 
2018. This increase is largely due to the following factors: 
 

• Capital raising of $20 million;  
• Net proceeds from convertible notes of $5.8 million; and 
• Net loss for the year of $ 37.9 million, adjusted for finance charge on settlement of convertible notes of $13.9 million 

and share based payments of $10.7 million. 
 
SHARES UNDER OPTION 
 
At the date of this report the Company has 221,115 (2017: Nil) unissued ordinary shares under option. 
 
 
DIVIDENDS 
 
No dividend was paid or declared in respect of the years ended 30 June 2018 and 2017. 
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Directors’ Report (cont’d) 
 
STRATEGY AND OUTLOOK 
 
Strategy 
P2P’s business model is premised on the operating at all key stages of the fleet management lifecycle, from vehicle 
acquisition and in-house customization, vehicle servicing and driver support, and fleet management and administration. 
 
P2P applies this model from central locations in each of the geographic regions in which it operates to ensure its targets for 
customer servicing and fleet utilization are achieved. Management considers that this represents a key point of 
differentiation from the Company’s competitors and creates a sustainable competitive advantage. 
 
The Group’s strategic priorities are: 
 
• Achieve benefits through scale – P2P believes that its strategy of increasing its fleet size while managing fleet utilization 

is critical to optimising operational efficiencies across the Group’s network of service centres and centralised services 
offering. 

 
Increased scale provides the opportunity to enhance buying terms (for example, vehicles and related consumables, and 
other external services including insurance) and the ability to deploy new initiatives across a growing vehicle network 
and geography. 

 
• Deliver best in class vehicle services and repairs – P2P’s customers are independent professional drivers. Delivering 

high levels of service to the Group’s customers, from car washing through to major repairs and replacement vehicles, 
ensures drivers experience minimal downtime. This underpins P2P’s ability to attract and retain its customers. 

 
• Deliver technological innovations – Investment in the development and implementation of innovative fleet management 

solutions including dispatch, vehicle tracking & diagnostics, and driver rostering presents a significant opportunity to 
enhance fleet utilization, deliver cost efficiencies and attract drivers. P2P currently has in soft-launch a range of initiatives 
that will be implemented across its network and will continue to invest in and/or externally source best-of-breed 
applications. 

 
• Maximise asset utilization – Vehicle utilization is a key driver of the Group’s profitability. P2P has and will continue to 

leverage technology and in-house service and maintenance expertise to maximize fleet utilization and vehicle uptime, as 
well as maximize vehicle useful life, in order to optimize returns on assets across the fleet. 

 
• Brand development – The Group aims to develop the awareness and reputation of its brands in each of its market 

segments, with the intention of becoming the preferred provider of vehicles to both its customers and end-passengers. 
 
 
Outlook 
The outlook for P2P’s business operations over the next twelve months include the following likely factors: 

• expected growth in Brisbane and Perth operations as a result of new acquisition of BWC; 

• increased contribution from the Group’s NSW and Queensland operations; 

• expected EBIDTA increase as a result of Adflow project started early FY19.  

• expected delivery of further operational efficiencies and cost savings in 2019. 
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Directors’ Report (cont’d) 

 
EVENTS AFTER BALANCE SHEET DATE 
 
BWC acquisition 
On 3 August 2018 P2P completed the acquisition of Black & White Holdings Limited (“BWC”). The acquisition will deliver 
in-house network capabilities to the group. 
 
The purchase consideration comprises cash of $4.27 million (subject to completion adjustments), 4,364,000 fully paid 
ordinary shares amounting to $3.78 million at the share price on date of acquisition of $0.87 per share and contingent 
consideration of up to $12 million. The contingent consideration arrangement relates to two earn-out payments of up a 
maximum of $6 million each payable to the vendor based upon EBITDA achieved for BWC for FY19 and FY20. The group 
has not yet estimated the fair value of the contingent consideration payable at the date of the acquisition. The cash component 
of the acquisition was funded by way of a draw down of available bank facilities.  
 
At the time the consolidated financial statements were authorised for issue, the group had not yet completed the accounting 
for the acquisition of BWC. In particular, sufficient information to provisionally account for the assets and liabilities 
acquired has not yet been obtained. 
 
Greg Webb, Managing Director of BWC, was appointed as a director of P2P on the date of acquisition.  
 
 
Fare Media acquisition 
On 1 August 2018 P2P acquired the trade and assets of Fare Media, a leading digital and static passenger transport 
advertising company in order to expand the Adflow taxi advertising business. Total consideration of $100,000 is to be 
settled in shares. 
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Directors’ Report (cont’d) 
 
INFORMATION ON DIRECTORS 
 

Matthew Reynolds - Independent non-executive director & chairman (appointed as Chairman on 
22/11/2017)  
 

Experience and 
Directorships held in 
other listed entities 

- Matthew is a partner in Thomson Geer’s Corporate & M&A team. He 
specialises in debt and equity capital markets, mergers and acquisitions and 
private equity spanning over 20 years.  He holds a Bachelor of Political 
Science & Economics (Hons) and a Bachelor of Laws (Hons) and is a 
member of both the Queensland Law Society and Company Law Committee, 
Queensland Law Society. 
 
Matthew is a non-executive director of ASX listed companies Bubs Australia 
Limited (ASX:BUB) and Axsesstoday Limited (ASX:AXL) and was 
previously a non-executive director of ASX listed G8 Education Limited 
(ASX:GEM).  

Interest in Shares and 
Options 

- Shares: 26,515 (as at 15/8/2018) 
Options: Nil (as at 15/8/2018) 
 

Thomas Varga - Managing Director and Chief Executive Officer (appointed as Managing 
Director on 19/09/2018, Executive Director on 03/03/2017 and CEO on 
03/11/2017) 
 

Experience and 
Directorships held in 
other listed entities 

- Tom is the founder of the NSW operations and has over 10 years of 
experience in the point-to-point transport industry. 
 
Prior to founding the NSW operations, Tom held management and senior 
management roles with Bluescope Steel and Macquarie Bank.  At Macquarie, 
Tom drove the strategic direction of start-up ventures, Live Payments and 
MACT (taxi payment and network).  Subsequently Tom became CEO of Live 
Group – a taxi-specific eftpos solution with proprietary software, which 
transitioned from early stage to commercial software with a national presence 
during Tom’s tenure as CEO. 

Interest in Shares and 
Options 

- Shares: 6,467,200 (as at 15/8/2018) 
Options: Nil (as at 15/8/2018) 

 

 

Harry Katsiabanis              - Executive Director (appointed 03/03/2017) 
 

Experience and 
Directorships held in 
other listed entities 

- Harry is the founder of the Victorian operations and has worked within the 
taxi industry since 1987. 
 
Harry was a founding director of Taxi-Link and Quicklink, and other 
independent fleet management and investment companies.  Harry was also a 
founder of TaxiEpay, an alternative eftpos solution for taxis; which was 
acquired by Live Group. 
 
Harry holds a Masters of Entrepreneurship and Innovation from Swinburne 
University. 
 
His deep industry experience traverses accredited training initiatives, 
dispatch operations and industry-specific software solutions. 
 
Harry is a past board member of Entrepreneurs Organization (Melbourne) 
and previous chairman of Entrepreneurs Program, Swinburne University.  
Presently, Harry sits on the Stakeholder Reference Group panel that advises 
the Taxi Services Commission. 

Interest in Shares and 
Options 

- Shares: 6,960,000 (as at 15/8/2018) 
Options: Nil (as at 15/8/2018) 
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Directors’ Report (cont’d) 
 
INFORMATION ON DIRECTORS (cont’d) 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Chip Beng Yeoh - Non-executive Director (appointed 22/11/2017) 
 

Experience and 
Directorships held in 
other listed entities 

- Chip was the Chief Financial Officer at Cabcharge Australia Limited 
(ASX:CAB) from 2007 to 2015. He is experienced in mergers, acquisitions 
and subsequent business integration, investor relations, treasury and balance 
sheet management and cost management. 
 
Chip has worked in highly regulated industries both locally and abroad and 
has firsthand experience dealing with disruptive technologies. 
 
Chip started his career with Price Waterhouse in Singapore in 1982. He then 
joined OCBC Bank Singapore in 1989. Prior to coming to Australia in 2006, 
Chip was working in ComfortDelGro Corporation Limited, one of the 
world’s largest land transport companies. 

Interest in Shares and 
Options 

- Shares: 17,803 (as at 15/8/2018) 
Options: Nil (as at 15/8/2018) 

Peter Cook                        - Non-executive Director (appointed 22/11/2017) 
 

Experience and 
Directorships held in 
other listed entities 

- Peter is the CEO of ASX listed payments specialist Novatti Group Limited 
(ASX:NOV) and the Chairman of recurring payments service provider 
Integrapay Pty Ltd. Peter has been a founder of financial transactions and 
technology businesses in Australia, the UK, Canada, Malaysia and Africa. 
 
Peter is a graduate of the Royal Military College, Duntroon and has previous 
management experience with PWC, Telstra and the Department of Defence 
and was the Deputy Chairman of Senetas Corporation Limited (ASX: SEN) 
from June 1999 to February 2006. He is a Graduate Member of the Australian 
Institute of Company Directors. Peter serves as an Independent Community 
Member on the Heathcote Hospital Governance Board. 

Interest in Shares and 
Options 

- Shares: Nil (as at 15/8/2018) 
Options: Nil (as at 15/8/2018) 

Greg Webb                        - Executive Director (appointed 03/08/2018) 
 

Experience and 
Directorships held in 
other listed entities 

- Greg Webb has been Managing Director of Black & White Cabs since June 
1996. 
 
Greg has been associated with the taxi industry since 1982. Greg is also a 
taxi licence owner, Licenced Motor Dealer and property investor. 
Greg is a Fellow of the Australian Institute of Company Directors and a 
Fellow of the Australian Institute of Management. 

Interest in Shares and 
Options 

- Shares: 1,203,476 (as at 15/8/2018) 
Options: Nil (as at 15/8/2018) 
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Directors’ Report (cont’d) 
 
 
COMPANY SECRETARY 
 
The Company Secretary at the end of the financial year is Mr Hasaka Martin and he was appointed as Company Secretary 
on 22 November 2017. Mr Martin is a Chartered Secretary, holds a Graduate Diploma in Applied Corporate Governance 
and is a fellow of the Governance Institute of Australia. 
 
DIRECTORS’ MEETINGS 
 
During the financial year 8 meetings of directors, one audit committee meeting were held and no remuneration committee 
meeting was held.  Attendances by each director during the year were as follows: 
 

Audit Committee Meetings Directors’ Meetings  
Number 

eligible to 
attend 

 
Number 
attended 

Number 
eligible to 

attend 

 
Number 
attended 

 

Matthew Reynolds 1 1 8 8  
Thomas Varga                   - - 8 8  
Harry Katsiabanis              - - 8 8  
Chip Beng Yeoh                1 1 8 8  
Peter Cook                1 1 8 8  

 
 
INDEMNIFICATION AND INSURANCE OF OFFICERS AND AUDITORS 
 
During the financial year, the Company paid a premium in respect of a contract insuring the directors of the Company, the 
Company secretary and all executive officers of the Company and of any related body corporate against a liability that could 
be incurred as such a director, secretary or executive officer to the extent permitted by the Corporations Act 2001. 
 
The directors have not included details of the nature of the liabilities covered or the amount of the premium paid in respect 
of the directors’ and officers’ liability and legal expenses insurance contracts as such disclosure is prohibited under the 
terms of the contract. 
 
The Company has not otherwise, during or since the end of the financial year, except to the extent permitted by law, 
indemnified or agreed to indemnify an officer or auditor of the Company or of any related body corporate against a liability 
incurred as such an officer or auditor. 
  
PROCEEDINGS ON BEHALF OF COMPANY 
 
No person has applied for leave to bring proceedings in Court on behalf of the Company or intervene in any proceedings to 
which the company is a party for the purpose of taking responsibility on behalf of the Company for all or any part of those 
proceedings. 
 
NON-AUDIT SERVICES 
 
The board of directors, in accordance with advice from the Audit Committee, is satisfied that the provision of non-audit 
services during the year is compatible with the general standard of independence for auditors imposed by the Corporations 
Act 2001.  The directors are satisfied that any services did not compromise the external auditor’s independence for the 
following reasons: 
• all non-audit services are reviewed and approved by the directors prior to commencement to ensure they do not 

adversely affect the integrity and objectivity of the auditor; and 
• the nature of the services provided do not compromise the general principles relating to auditor independence in 

accordance with APES 110: Code of Ethics for Professional Accountants set by the Accounting Professional and 
Ethical Standards Board. 

 
Non-audit services provided by Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu Limited and its related entities during the year ended 30 June 
2018 were $1,184,661 (2017: $Nil). 
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Directors’ Report (cont’d) 
 
AUDITOR’S INDEPENDENCE DECLARATION 
 
The lead auditor’s independence declaration under section 307C of the Corporations Act 2001 for the year ended 30 June 
2018 has been received and is reproduced immediately following the Directors’ Report. 
 
CORPORATE GOVERNANCE 
 
The Board and management of P2P Transport are committed to conducting the Group’s business in an ethical manner and 
in accordance with the highest standards of corporate governance. The Company has adopted and has substantially complied 
with the ASX Corporate Governance Principles and Recommendations (Third Edition) (Recommendations) to the extent 
appropriate to the size and nature of the Group’s operations. 
 
The Company has prepared a statement which sets out the corporate governance practices that were in operation throughout 
the financial year for the Company, identifies any Recommendations that have not been followed and provides reasons for 
not following such Recommendations (Corporate Governance Statement). 
 
The Corporate Governance Statement is accurate and up to date as at 27 August 2018 and has been approved by the Board 
and is available for review on the Company’s website (www.p2ptransport.com.au) and will be lodged together with an 
Appendix 4G at the same time that this Financial Report is lodged with ASX. 
 
ROUNDING OF AMOUNTS 

The Parent is a company of the kind referred to in ASIC Corporations (Rounding in Financials/Directors’ Reports) 
Instrument 2016/191, dated 24 March 2016, and consequently the amounts in the directors’ report and the annual financial 
report are rounded, that fact must be disclosed in the financial report or the directors’ report.  

 

Remuneration Report (audited) 
 
This remuneration report for the year ended 30 June 2018 outlines the remuneration arrangements of the Company and the 
Group in accordance with the requirements of the Corporations Act 2001 (the Act) and its regulations. This information has 
been audited as required by section 308(3C) of the Act.  
 
The remuneration report details the remuneration arrangements for key management personnel (KMP) who are defined as 
those persons having authority and responsibility for planning, directing and controlling the major activities of the Company 
and the Group, directly or indirectly, including any director (whether executive or otherwise) of the Company.  
 
For the purposes of this report, Key Management Personnel are outlined below: 
 
KEY MANAGEMENT PERSONNEL 
 
Directors 
Matthew Reynolds             Non-executive Director and Chairman 
Thomas Varga                   Managing Director and Chief Executive Officer 
Harry Katsiabanis              Executive Director  
Chip Beng Yeoh                Non-executive Director 
Peter Cook                        Non-executive Director 
 
Executives 
Bruno D’Amico                       Chief Operating Officer 
Matthew Turner                       Chief Financial Officer 
 
 
Other than the appointment of Greg Webb as executive director on 03/08/2018, there were no changes to Key Management 
Personnel after the reporting date and before the date the financial report was authorized for issue. 
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Remuneration Report (audited) (cont’d) 
 
REMUNERATION POLICY 
 
The culture of P2P is one that operates on a meritocracy for all employees at all levels while at the same time seeking to 
align shareholder interests with that of all employees at all levels through a sense of ownership. This is achieved through 
number of elements that focus on culture, appropriate recruitment and selective, regular updates from the CEO down as 
well as the overall sharing of information. 
However, to ensure that alignment is achieved through performance the “Performance and Incentive Framework” rewards 
executives primarily through share ownership of the business with some cash elements. In fact, the more senior roles in the 
Group are more skewed to rewards through shares supporting the overall shareholders aligned focus.  
  
The structure of the P2P incentive framework is skewed towards exceptional performance rather than simply delivery of 
budget or expectation. This is achieved through predetermined hurdles for each Short-term Incentive (STI) and Long-term 
Incentive (LTI) factor that is agreed at the start of each financial year and sets the performance hurdles. To achieve the full 
incentive percentage for STI or LTI the individual and the organisation must achieve the budgeted performance. 
 
There are 3 types of incentives available to eligible executive: 

• Short-term Incentives (STI’s) – Specific team, role and individual based performance targets made up of a 
combination of operational, financial, strategic/personal, safety and compliance/sustainability. STI’s are rewarded 
in cash to the employee and weighting and performance is based on various Performance Hurdle categories; 

• Long-term Incentives (LTI’s) – Organisation focus performance targets that align with the creation of value to 
the organisation and the shareholder. All LTI’s are paid in shares that vest over a period of time; 

• Retention Incentive (RI) – Based solely on continued employment with the business that vests over the same 
period of time as LTI shares. This is achieved by being an employee at the time of measurement. 

 
The performance of executives is measured against criteria agreed annually with each executive and is based predominantly 
on growth of revenue, EBITDA and improvement in share price.  All bonuses and incentives are linked to predetermined 
performance criteria.  The board may, however, exercise its discretion in relation to approving incentives, bonuses and share 
based payments.  Any changes must be justified by reference to measurable performance criteria.  The policy is designed 
to attract the highest calibre executives and reward them for performance that results in long-term growth in shareholders’ 
wealth.  
 
The board policy is to remunerate non-executive directors at market rates for time, commitment and responsibilities.  The 
board determines payments to the non-executive directors and reviews their remuneration annually, based on market 
practice, duties and accountability.  Independent external advice is sought when required.  The maximum aggregate amount 
of fees that can be paid to non-executive directors is subject to approval by shareholders at the Annual General Meeting. It 
is currently $120,000 per annum for the Chairman and $70,000 per annum for other Non-executive directors. Non-executive 
directors are paid a base fee annually and fees are not linked to the profit of the Group.  However, to align directors’ interests 
with shareholder interests, the directors are encouraged to hold shares in the Company.   

 
For the year ended 30 June 2018, no STI or LTI were paid or awarded and members of key management personnel did not 
have any remuneration linked to performance. The Group’s net loss for the year was $37.9 million. The share price at date 
of IPO was $1.32 per share and moved between $1.45 and $1.10 per share up to 30 June 2018. 
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Remuneration Report (audited) (cont’d) 
 
SHARE-BASED COMPENSATION 
Issue of shares 

There were no shares issued to Directors and other key management personnel as part of compensation during the year ended 
30 June 2018 and 2017. 

 

Options and rights 

There were no options over ordinary shares issued to Directors and other key management personnel as part of compensation 
that were outstanding as at 30 June 2018 and 30 June 2017. 

During the year, the Company granted Matthew Turner fixed compensation of $600,000 to be settled in a variable number 
of P2P shares over 3 years ending 13 December 2020. The shares vest in tranches of $200,000 over the three year period on 
condition that the recipient is employed by the Company on the date of vesting. As at 30 June 2018, the fair value of share-
based payments amounting to $358,000 was charged to the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive 
income. The share rights form part of Matthew Turner’s base remuneration and align remuneration with performance of the 
Company’s shares.   

Other than above, there were no options or rights over ordinary shares granted to or vested by Directors and other key 
management personnel as part of compensation during the year ended 30 June 2018. 

 

SHAREHOLDINGS OF KEY MANAGEMENT PERSONNEL 

The number of shares in the Company held during the financial year by each Director and other members of key management 
personnel of the Group, including their personally related parties, is set out below: 
 

 
 
* 

 
20,323,200 shares held at IPO are held in escrow for 24 months until 13 December 2019. 

 
** 

 
Additions others refer to shares purchased during the financial year. 

 
 
 
 
 

 
 

 
Balance  
1/7/2017 

Increase due 
to share 

split 

 
Shares sold 

at IPO 

 
Total At 

IPO* 

 
Additions –  

Others** 

 
Balance  

30/6/2018 
       
Directors       
Matthew Reynolds - - - - 26,515 26,515 
Chip Beng Yeoh - - - - 17,803 17,803 
Peter Cook - - - - -  
Thomas Varga 1,334,000 8,004,000 (2,934,800) 6,403,200 64,000 6,467,200 
Harry Katsiabanis 1,450,000 8,700,000 (3,190,000) 6,960,000 - 6,960,000 
Executives       
Bruno D’amico 1,450,000 8,700,000 (3,190,000) 6,960,000 - 6,960,000 
Matthew Turner - - - - - - 
Total 4,234,000 25,404,000 (9,314,800) 20,323,200 108,318 20,431,518 
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Remuneration Report (audited) (cont’d) 
 
KEY MANAGEMENT PERSONNEL REMUNERATION 

The remuneration for each director and the key management personnel of the consolidated and parent entities considered 
key to the operations during the year are listed in the table below: 
 

2018 

 
 

Short Term Benefits 

Post-
Employment 

Benefits 
Long Term 

Benefits 
Share-Based                  
Payments  

Fixed 
Remuneration 

Proportion  

 

Cash 
Salaries & 

fees 
$ 

 
Cash  

Bonus 
$ 

 
Monetary
Benefits* 

$ 

  
 

Superannuation  
$ 

Long 
Service 
Leave 

$ 

 
 

Rights 
$ 

 
 

Total 
$ 

 
 
 

% 
Non-Executive Directors         

Matthew Reynolds 66,130 - -  6,280 - - 72,410 100% 
Chip Beng Yeoh 38,575 - -  3,665 - - 42,240 100% 
Peter Cook 38,575 - -  3,665 - - 42,240 100% 
Total  143,280 - -  13,610 - - 156,890  
Executive/Managing Directors         

Thomas Varga 349,655 - 14,025  24,740 3,300 - 391,720 100% 
Harry Katsiabanis 275,050 - 14,025  24,775 3,300 - 317,150 100% 
Total 624,705 - 28,050  49,515 6,600 - 708,870  
Other KMP          
Bruno D’amico 275,050 - 14,025  24,775 3,300 - 317,150 100% 
Matthew Turner 195,800 - -  16,200 1,200 358,000 571,200 100% 
Total Other KMP 470,850 - 14,025  40,975 4,500 358,000 888,350  
Total  1,238,835 - 42,075  104,100 11,100 358,000 1,754,110  
          

2017 

 
 

Short Term Benefits 

Post-
Employment 

Benefits 
Long Term 

Benefits 
Share-Based                 
Payments  

Fixed 
Remuneration 

Proportion  

 

Cash 
Salaries & 

fees 
$ 

 
Cash  

Bonus 
$ 

Monetary 
Benefits 

$ 

 

Superannuation 
$ 

Long 
Service 
Leave 

$ 
Rights 

$ 
Total 

$ % 
Non-Executive Directors         

Matthew Reynolds - - -  - - - - - 
Chip Beng Yeoh - - -  - - - - - 
Peter Cook - - -  - - - - - 
Total  - - -  - - - - - 
Executive Directors         

Thomas Varga - - -  - - - - - 
Harry Katsiabanis 99,360 - -  9,440 - - 108,800 100% 
Total 99,360 - -  9,440 - - 108,800  
Other KMP          
Bruno D’amico 99,360 - -  9,440 - - 108,800 100% 
Matthew Turner 24,040 - -  2,280 - - 26,320 100% 
Total Other KMP 123,400 - -  11,720 - - 135,120  
Total  222,760 - -  21,160 - - 243,920  
          

* Monetary benefits relate to motor vehicle allowance. 
** No remuneration paid during the year or previous year to Mr. Gary James Deigan as a non-executive director. 
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Remuneration Report (audited) (cont’d) 
 

 
OTHER TRANSACTIONS WITH KMP AND THEIR RELATED PARTIES 
 

  

 Rent*  Purchases** 

Amounts 
owed 

to/(from) 
   $’000 $’000 $’000 
      
2018 
2017   

170 
108 

3,430 
- 

288 
- 

 

* P2P Head office located in Melbourne. This site is rented from a director-controlled entity being, the Damico Family 
Trust and The Katsiabanis Family Trust. 

 

**In order to meet peak demands by its customers, the Group has some of its vehicle purchasing services carried out by 
Ocimad Pty Ltd, an entity controlled by key management person Bruno D’Amico. 

 

ENGAGEMENT DETAILS OF DIRECTORS AND SENIOR EXECUTIVES 

Remuneration arrangements for some KMP are formalized in engagement agreements. Details of these agreements are 
provided below. 

 

Name Matthew Reynolds 

Title Non-executive Director and Chairman 

Agreement commenced 13 December 2017 

Term of agreement No fixed term 

Details Directors fees for the year ended 30 June 2018 of $120,000 plus superannuation of $11,400. 
There are no other entitlements. 

 

Name Thomas Varga 

Title Managing Director and Chief Executive Officer 

Agreement commenced 13 December 2017 

Term of agreement No fixed term 

Details Base salary, including motor vehicle allowance, of $400,000 plus superannuation of $27,000. 
Remuneration for the period from 1 July 2017 to 12 December 2017 was $158,496 (year ended 
30 June 2017: $26,320). Six (6) month termination notice by either party. Eligible to 
participate in performance remuneration plan above. 
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Remuneration Report (audited) (cont’d) 
 

ENGAGEMENT DETAILS OF DIRECTORS AND SENIOR EXECUTIVES (cont’d) 

 
Name Harry Katsiabanis 

Title Executive Director  

Agreement commenced 13 December 2017 

Term of agreement No fixed term 

Details Base salary, including motor vehicle allowance, of $250,000 plus superannuation of $23,750. 
Remuneration for the period from 1 July 2017 to 12 December 2017 was $166,446 (year ended 
30 June 2017: $108,800). Six (6) month termination notice by either party. Eligible to 
participate in performance remuneration plan above. 

 

Name Chip Beng Yeoh 

Title Non-executive Director 

Agreement commenced 13 December 2017 

Term of agreement No fixed term 

Details Directors fees for the year ended 30 June 2018 of $70,000 plus superannuation of $6,650. 
There are no other entitlements. 

  

Name Peter Cook 

Title Non-executive Director 

Agreement commenced 13 December 2017 

Term of agreement No fixed term 

Details Directors fees for the year ended 30 June 2018 of $70,000 plus superannuation of $6,650. 
There are no other entitlements. 

 

Name Bruno D’amico 

Title Chief Operating Officer 

Agreement commenced 13 December 2017 

Term of agreement No fixed term 

Details Base salary, including motor vehicle allowance, of $250,000 plus superannuation of $23,750. 
Remuneration for the period from 1 July 2017 to 12 December 2017 was $166,446 (year ended 
30 June 2017: $108,800). Six (6) month termination notice by either party. Eligible to 
participate in performance remuneration plan above. 
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Remuneration Report (audited) (cont’d) 
 

ENGAGEMENT DETAILS OF DIRECTORS AND SENIOR EXECUTIVES (cont’d) 

 

Name Greg Webb 

Title Executive Director  

Agreement commenced 03 August 2018 

Term of agreement 2 years contract 

Details Consultancy fee for the year ending 30 June 2019 of $314,000 plus fixed motor vehicle 
allowance of $3,000 per month.  

 

Name Matthew Turner 

Title Chief Financial Officer 

Agreement commenced 13 December 2017 

Term of agreement No fixed term 

Details Base salary, including motor vehicle allowance, of $250,000 plus superannuation of $23,750. 
Remuneration for the period from 1 July 2017 to 12 December 2017 was $64,595 (year ended 
30 June 2017: $26,320). Six (6) month termination notice by either party. Eligible to 
participate in performance remuneration plan above. 

 

 

End of remuneration report. 

 

The directors’ report is signed in accordance with a resolution of the directors made pursuant to s.298(2) of the Corporations 
Act 2001. 

 
 

 
 
 

Matthew Reynolds                                                                                                                                 
Non-executive Director and Chairman 
Date 27 September 2018 

Chip Beng Yeoh                                                                                                                                 
Non-executive Director and Chair of Audit Committee 
Date 27 September 2018 
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Consolidated Statement of Profit or Loss and Other 
Comprehensive Income 
For the year ended 30 June 2018 
 

  2018 2017  
 Note $000’s $000’s  
     
Revenue 4 32,711  8,916  
Cost of sales  (25,866)  (6,042)  
Gross profit  6,845  2,874  
     
Employee benefits expense  (6,411) (1,077)  
Other operating expenses  (5,573) (1,013)  
Initial public offer expenses 5 (11,801) -   
Impairment loss on goodwill 5 (2,700)  -  
Finance costs 5 (14,476)  (113)  
Depreciation and amortisation 5 (3,678) (608)  
(Loss)/Profit before income tax  (37,794) 63   
 
Income tax expense 6.1 (68) (13)  
(Loss)/Profit for the year attributable to members of the parent  (37,862) 50   
 
Other comprehensive income, net of tax 

 
  

Items that will not be reclassified subsequently to profit 
or loss: 

 
  

Gain on revaluation of plant and equipment  - 790 
Other comprehensive income for the year, net of income tax   - 790 
    
Total comprehensive (loss)/income for the year attributable to 
members of the parent 

  
(37,862) 

 
840  

     
(Loss)/Earnings per Share 
Basic (loss)/profit per share (cents per share) 
Diluted (loss)/profit per share (cents per share) 
 

9  
(64.40)  
(64.40) 

 
0.44  
0.44  

 

 
 
The accompanying notes form part of these consolidated financial statements. 
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Consolidated Statement of Financial Position 
As at 30 June 2018 
 

 Note 2018 2017 
  $000’s $000’s 
    
ASSETS    
CURRENT ASSETS    
Cash and cash equivalents 10 3,618  62  
Trade and other receivables 11 3,764  1,549  
Inventories 12 491  -  
Other current assets 13 3,032  125  
TOTAL CURRENT ASSETS  10,905  1,736  
    
NON-CURRENT ASSETS    
Plant and equipment 14 14,581  4,189  
Intangible assets and goodwill 15 4,486  4,462 
Investments in associates  100  100  
Deferred tax assets 6.5 1,207  252  
TOTAL NON-CURRENT ASSETS  20,374  9,003  
TOTAL ASSETS  31,279  10,739  

    
LIABILITIES    
CURRENT LIABILITIES    
Trade and other payables 16 4,248  2,544  
Borrowings 17 3,078  887  
Current tax liabilities 6.4 185  142  
Provisions 18 973  89  
TOTAL CURRENT LIABILITIES  8,484  3,662  
    
NON-CURRENT LIABILITIES    
Borrowings 17 3,666  658  
Provisions 18 145  14  
Deferred tax liabilities 6.5 699  293  
TOTAL NON-CURRENT LIABILITIES  4,510  965  
TOTAL LIABILITIES  12,994  4,627  
NET ASSETS  18,285  6,112  

    
EQUITY    
Issued capital 20 54,086  4,777  
Asset revaluation reserve 21 790  790  
Other reserves 21 726  -  
Accumulated (losses)/profits   (37,317) 545  
TOTAL EQUITY  18,285  6,112 

 
 
The accompanying notes form part of these consolidated financial statements. 
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Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity 
For the year ended 30 June 2018  
 
 

 

Note 

 
 
 

Issued  
Capital 

 
 

Asset 
Revaluation 

Reserve  

 
  
 

Other 
Reserves  

 
 

Accumulated 
Profits/ 

(Losses)  

 
 
 
  

Total  
   $000’s   $000’s   $000’s   $000’s   $000’s  
       
Balance at 1 July 2016  - - - 495 495 

       

Profit for the year  - - - 50 50 

Other comprehensive income  - 790 - - 790 

Total comprehensive income for the year  - 790 - 50 840 

Shares issued   4,777 - - - 4,777 

Balance at 30 June 2017  4,777 790 - 545 6,112 

       
       
Balance at 1 July 2017  4,777 790 - 545 6,112 

       

Loss for the year  - - - (37,862) (37,862) 

Other comprehensive income  - - - - - 

Total comprehensive loss for the year  - - - (37,862) (37,862) 

Shares issued: initial public offer  20,000 - - - 20,000 

Shares issued on conversion of convertible notes  19,796 - - - 19,796 

Shares issued in exchange for services received  10,160 - - - 10,160 

Share options and rights granted 30 - - 526 - 526 
Shares issued as consideration for business 

combinations  
 

19 
 

750 
 

- 
 

- 
 

- 
 

750 
Equity instruments to be issued as consideration 

for business combinations 
 

19 
 

- 
 

- 
 

200 
 

- 
 

200 
Share issue transaction costs, net of tax  (1,397) - - - (1,397) 

Balance at 30 June 2018  54,086 790  726  (37,317) 18,285 

       
       

 
The accompanying notes form part of these consolidated financial statements. 
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Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows 
For the year ended 30 June 2018 
 

  2018 2017 
 Note $000’s $000’s 
CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES    
    
Receipts from customers  35,462  9,952  
Payment to suppliers and employees  (43,752) (8,470) 
Interest and costs of finance paid  (520) (113) 
Income tax refunds  43  136  
Net cash (used in)/provided by operating activities 23 (8,767) 1,505  
    
CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES    
    
Net consideration (paid)/received in cash for business acquisitions 19 (7,145) 33  
Payments for plant and equipment 14 (8,124) (671) 
Proceeds from disposal of plant and equipment  34  -  
Investment in associates  -  (100) 
Payment for intangible assets 15 (18) -  
Net cash used in investing activities  (15,253) (738) 
    
CASH FLOWS FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES    
    
Proceeds from borrowings  7,712  -  
Repayment of borrowings  (3,980) (800) 
Proceeds from issue of new shares 20 20,000  -  
Transaction costs relating to issue of new shares  (1,996) -  
Proceeds from the issue of convertible notes 20 9,840  -  
Repayment of convertible notes  (4,000) -  
Net cash flow from/(used in) financing activities  27,576  (800) 
    
NET INCREASE/(DECREASE) IN CASH AND CASH 
EQUIVALENTS  

 
3,556  

 
(33) 

    
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of year 10 62  95  
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AT END OF YEAR 10 3,618  62  

 
 
 
 
The accompanying notes form part of these consolidated financial statements. 
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements 
For the year end 30 June 2018 
 
 
1. Corporate Information 
These financial statements cover the consolidated entity consisting of P2P Transport Limited (the “Company”) and its 
subsidiaries (collectively referred to as the “Group”). The Company is a company of the kind referred to in ASIC 
Corporations (Rounding in the Financials/Director’s Reports) Instrument 2016/191, and consequently the amounts in the 
directors’ report and the consolidated financial statements are rounded off to the nearest thousand Australian dollars, unless 
otherwise indicated. 
 
P2P Transport Limited is a public company listed on the Australian Securities Exchange and incorporated and domiciled in 
Australia. A description of the nature of the Group’s operations and its principal activities are included in the directors’ 
report, which is not part of the consolidated financial statements. 
 
 
The registered office and principal place of business of the Company is: 
 
P2P Transport Limited 
1313-1315 North Road  
Huntingdale, VIC 3166 
Australia 
 
 
2. Application of New and Revised International Financial Reporting Standards 
 
2.1 Amendments to Accounting Standards and new Interpretations that are mandatorily effective for the current 

reporting year 
 
The Group has adopted the following new and revised Standards and Interpretations issued by the Australian Accounting 
Standards Board (the AASB) that are relevant to their operations and effective for the current year.  
 
• AASB 1048 Interpretation of Standards  
• AASB 2016-1 Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards – Recognition of Deferred Tax Assets for Unrealised 

Losses  
• AASB 2016-2 Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards – Disclosure Initiative: Amendments to AASB 107  
• AASB 2017-2 Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards – Further Annual Improvements 2014-2016 
 
The adoption of these new and revised Standards and Interpretations did not have any material impact on the Group’s 
consolidated financial statements. 
 
2.2 New and revised Australian Accounting Standards and Interpretations on issue but not yet effective 
 
At the date of authorisation of the consolidated financial statements, the Group has not applied the following new and 
revised Australian Accounting Standards, Interpretations and amendments that have been issued but are not yet effective: 

 
 
 
 
Standard/amendment 

 
Effective for annual  
reporting periods  
beginning on or after 
 

Expected to be  
initially applied in  
the financial year 
ending 

AASB 9 ‘Financial Instruments’ 1 January 2018 30 June 2019 
AASB 15 ‘Revenue from Contracts with Customers’ 
 

1 January 2018 30 June 2019 
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Notes to the consolidated financial statements 
For the year end 30 June 2018 

 
2. Application of New and Revised International Financial Reporting Standards (continued) 

 
2.2 New and revised Australian Accounting Standards and Interpretations on issue but not yet effective 

 
 
 
 
Standard/amendment 

 
Effective for annual  
reporting periods  
beginning on or after 
 

Expected to be  
initially applied in  
the financial year 
ending 

AASB 16 Leases 
 

1 January 2019 30 June 2020 

The directors anticipate that the adoption of these Standards and Interpretations in future years will have the following 
impacts: 
 
AASB 9 – Financial Instruments, addresses the classification, measurement and derecognition of financial assets and 
financial liabilities, introduces new rules for hedge accounting and a new impairment model for financial assets. 
 
In relation to the impairment of financial assets, AASB 9 requires an expected credit loss model as opposed to an incurred 
credit loss model under AASB 139. The expected credit loss model requires the group to account for expected credit losses 
and changes in those expected credit losses at each reporting date to reflect changes in credit risk since initial recognition 
of the financial assets. In other words, it is no longer necessary for a credit event to have occurred before credit losses are 
recognised. The directors do not anticipate that the application of the AASB 9 new impairment model requirements will 
have a material impact on the Group’s financial statements. 
 
The group does not currently enter into hedge accounting transactions and therefore the new AASB 9 hedge accounting 
rules will not impact the Group’s consolidated financial statements.  
 
All financial assets and financial liabilities will continue to be classified and measured on the same bases as currently 
adopted under AASB 139. 
 
AASB 15 – Revenue from Contracts with Customers, replaces AASB 118 and AASB 111. The new standard is based 
on the principle that revenue is recognised when control of a good or service transfers to a customer. The standard permits 
either a full retrospective or a modified retrospective approach for the adoption.  
 
The main income streams are as follows: 
 
Fleet revenue 
Fleet revenue is short term rental of taxis and hire car vehicles. This revenue is recognised on a straight line basis over the 
period the vehicles are provided to the driver.  
 
Service revenue 
Service revenue arises from the provision of minor repair and vehicle servicing. Revenue from services is recognised as the 
repair or vehicle service work is provided.  
 
Accident recovery income 
Accident recovery income arises at the time of a vehicle accident when the other party is at fault. This income is recognised 
at the time of the vehicle accident.  
 
 
Apart from providing more extensive disclosures on the Group’s revenue transactions, the directors do not anticipate that 
the application of AASB 15 will have a material impact on the Group’s consolidated financial statements. The requirement 
of the new standard to recognise fleet and service revenue over a period of time as the service is carried out is consistent 
with the Group’s current accounting policy under AASB 118. 
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Notes to the consolidated financial statements 
For the year end 30 June 2018 

 
2. Application of New and Revised International Financial Reporting Standards (continued) 

 
2.2 New and revised Australian Accounting Standards and Interpretations on issue but not yet effective 

 
 

 
AASB 16 Leases modifies accounting for leases by lessees through removing the current distinction between operating and 
financing leases. The standard requires recognition of a “right of use” asset and a financial liability for all leases by lessees, 
with exemptions for short term and low value leases.  
 
The standard will primarily affect the accounting for the Group’s operating leases. As at the reporting date, the Group has 
non-cancellable operating lease commitments of $6.306 million (see note 22).  
 
Following implementation, the Group will recognise right of use assets and corresponding financial liabilities for the 
present value of the future lease payments. Asset amortisation and interest expenses will be recognised in the income 
statement replacing operating lease expenses. Further, the principal component of lease payments will be reclassified from 
operating to financing activities in the statement of cash flows. Certain performance metrics and ratios will be impacted as 
a result of the above changes, including EBITDA.  
 
The Group is still preparing an inventory for all of its operating lease contracts and considering the available options for 
transition and has not yet forecasted the financial impacts of the new standard, but will do so leading up to application of 
the standard. 
 
There are no other standards that are not yet effective and that are expected to have a material impact on the Group’s 
consolidated financial statements. 

 
3. Statement of Significant Accounting Policies 
 
3.1 Statement of Compliance 
These financial statements are general purpose financial statements which have been prepared in accordance with the 
Corporations Act 2001, Accounting Standards and Interpretations, and comply with other requirements of the law.  

The financial statements comprise the consolidated financial statements of the Group. For the purposes of preparing the 
consolidated financial statements, the Company is a for-profit entity. 

Accounting Standards include Australian Accounting Standards. Compliance with Australian Accounting Standards ensures 
that the financial statements and notes of the Company and the Group comply with International Financial Reporting 
Standards (‘IFRS’). 

 

3.2 Basis of Preparation 

The consolidated financial statements are general purpose financial statements that have been prepared in accordance with 
Australian Accounting Standards, other authoritative pronouncements of the Australian Accounting Standards Board and 
the Corporations Act 2001, and prepared for the purpose of presenting the consolidated entity as a for-profit entity. 
 
The consolidated financial statements have been prepared on the historical cost basis except for certain non-current assets 
and financial instruments that are measured at fair value at the end of each reporting period, as explained in the accounting 
policies below. 
 
Historical cost is generally based on the fair value of the consideration given in exchange for goods and services. 

Fair value is the price that would be received to sell an asset or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly transaction between 
market participants at the measurement date, regardless of whether that price is directly observable or estimated using 
another valuation technique. In estimating the fair value of an asset or a liability, the Group takes into account the 
characteristics of the asset or liability if market participants would take those characteristics into account when pricing the 
asset or liability at the measurement date. Fair value for measurement and/or disclosure purposes in these consolidated 
financial statements is determined on such a basis, except for share-based payment transactions that are within the scope of 
AASB 2, leasing transactions that are within the scope of AASB 117, and measurements that have some similarities to fair 
value but are not fair value, such as net realisable value in AASB 102 or value in use in AASB 136. 
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Notes to the consolidated financial statements  
For the year end 30 June 2018 
 

3. Statement of Significant Accounting Policies (continued) 
 

3.2 Basis of Preparation (continued) 

 

In addition, for financial reporting purposes, fair value measurements are categorised into Level 1, 2 or 3 based on the 
degree to which the inputs to the fair value measurements are observable and the significance of the inputs to the fair value 
measurement in its entirety, which are described as follows: 

▪ Level 1 inputs are quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for identical assets or liabilities that 

the entity can access at the measurement date; 

▪ Level 2 inputs are inputs, other than quoted prices included within Level 1, that are observable for 

the asset or liability, either directly or indirectly; and 

▪ Level 3 inputs are unobservable inputs for the asset or liability. 

 

3.3 Principles of Consolidation 

The consolidated financial statements comprise the financial statements of the Group and its subsidiaries as at 30 June 2018. 
Control is achieved when the Group is exposed, or has rights, to variable returns from its involvement with the investee and 
has the ability to affect those returns through its power over the investee. Specifically, the Group controls an investee if and 
only if the Group has: 
 
• Power over the investee (i.e. existing rights that give it the current ability to direct the relevant activities of the investee) 
• Exposure, or rights, to variable returns from its involvement with the investee 
• The ability to use its power over the investee to affect its returns 

 
Generally, there is a presumption that a majority of voting rights results in control. To support this presumption, and when 
the Group has less than a majority of the voting or similar rights of an investee, the Group considers all relevant facts and 
circumstances in assessing whether it has power over an investee, including: 
 
• The contractual arrangement(s) with the other vote holders of the investee 
• Rights arising from other contractual arrangements 
• The Group’s voting rights and potential voting rights 

 
The Group re-assesses whether or not it controls an investee if facts and circumstances indicate that there are changes to one or 
more of the three elements of control. Consolidation of a subsidiary begins when the Group obtains control over the subsidiary and 
ceases when the Group loses control of the subsidiary. Assets, liabilities, income and expenses of a subsidiary acquired or disposed 
of during the year are included in the consolidated financial statements from the date the Group gains control until the date the 
Group ceases to control the subsidiary.   
 
All inter-group balances and transactions between entities in the Group, including any unrealised profits or losses, have been 
eliminated on consolidation. Accounting policies of subsidiaries have been changed where necessary to ensure consistency with 
those adopted by the parent entity. 
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3. Statement of Significant Accounting Policies (continued) 
 

3.4 Group Reorganisation and Comparative Information 

The Company was incorporated on 3 March 2017 and on that date acquired 100% of the shares of 8 companies representing 
the legacy Victoria and New South Wales operations of the Group.   
 
The acquisition was effected by exchanging equity interests with the Victorian legal subsidiaries, Unicross Nominees Pty 
Ltd (“Unicross”) and Taxilink Pty Ltd (“Taxilink”), deemed to be the acquirer from an accounting perspective. 
 
Although the consolidated financial statements are issued under the name of P2P Transport Limited, they represent the 
continuation of the financial statements of the Victorian legal subsidiaries except for their capital structure. The consolidated 
financial statements therefore reflect: 
 
- the assets and liabilities of Unicross and Taxilink (the accounting acquirer) recognised and measured at their pre-

combination carrying amounts. 
- the assets and liabilities of the P2P Transport Limited and the New South Wales legal subsidiaries (the accounting 

acquiree) recognised and measured at fair value in accordance with AASB 3 – Business Combinations. 
- the retained earnings and other equity balances of Unicross and Taxilink (accounting acquirer) before the business 

combination. 
- the comparative consolidated statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income, statement of cash flows 

and statement of changes in equity of Unicross and Taxilink (accounting acquirer) up to the date of the business 
combination. 

 
During the current year, the Group has finalised the purchase price allocation for the above acquisition (Refer to note 19 to 
the notes to the consolidated financial statements for more details). 
 
3.5 Business Combinations 
Business combinations are accounted for using the acquisition method. The consideration transferred in a business 
combination is measured at fair value, which is calculated as the sum of the acquisition date fair values of the assets 
transferred by the acquirer, the liabilities incurred by the acquirer to former owners of the acquiree and the equity issued by 
the acquirer in exchange for control of the acquiree. For each business combination, the acquirer measures the non-
controlling interest in the acquiree either at fair value or at the proportionate share of the acquiree's identifiable net assets.  
Acquisition-related costs are expensed as incurred. 
 
If the business combination is achieved in stages, the acquisition date fair value of the acquirer's previously held equity 
interest in the acquiree is remeasured at fair value as at the acquisition date through profit or loss. 
 
Any contingent consideration to be transferred by the acquirer will be recognised at fair value at the acquisition date. 
Subsequent changes to the fair value of the contingent consideration which is deemed to be an asset or liability will be 
recognised in accordance with AASB 139 Financial Instruments: Recognition and Measurement either in profit or loss or 
in other comprehensive income. If the contingent consideration is classified as equity, it shall not be remeasured.  
 
Identifiable assets acquired and liabilities and contingent liabilities assumed in a business combination are, with limited 
exceptions, measured initially at their fair values at the acquisition date. 
 
Goodwill is recognised initially at the excess of cost over the acquirer’s interest in the net fair value of the identifiable assets, 
liabilities and contingent liabilities recognised. If the fair value of the acquirer’s interest is greater than cost, the surplus is 
immediately recognised in profit or loss. 
 
If the initial accounting for a business combination is incomplete by the end of the reporting period in which the combination 
occurs, the Group reports provisional amounts for the items for which the accounting is incomplete. Those provisional 
amounts are adjusted during the measurement period, or additional assets or liabilities are recognised, to reflect new 
information obtained about facts and circumstances that existed at the acquisition date that, if known, would have affected 
the amounts recognised at that date. 
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3. Statement of Significant Accounting Policies (continued) 

 
 

3.6 Income Tax 
 

The income tax expense/benefit for the year comprises current income tax expense/benefit and deferred tax expense/benefit. 

Current income tax expense/benefit charged to the profit or loss is the tax payable on taxable income calculated using 
applicable income tax rates enacted, or substantially enacted, as at reporting date.  Current tax liabilities/assets are therefore 
measured at the amounts expected to be paid to/recovered from the relevant taxation authority. 

Deferred income tax expense/benefit reflects movements in deferred tax asset and deferred tax liability balances during the 
year as well as unused tax losses. 

Current and deferred income tax expense/benefit is charged or credited directly to equity instead of the profit or loss when 
the tax relates to items that are credited or charged directly to equity. 

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are ascertained based on temporary differences arising between the tax bases of assets and 
liabilities and their carrying amounts in the financial statements. Deferred tax assets also result where amounts have been 
fully expensed but future tax deductions are available.   

No deferred income tax will be recognised from the initial recognition of an asset or liability, excluding a business 
combination, where there is no effect on accounting or taxable profit or loss. 

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are calculated at the tax rates that are expected to apply to the period when the asset is 
realised or the liability is settled, based on tax rates enacted or substantively enacted at reporting date. Their measurement 
also reflects the manner in which management expects to recover or settle the carrying amount of the related asset or liability. 
 
Deferred tax assets relating to temporary differences and unused tax losses are recognised only to the extent that it is 
probable that future taxable profit will be available against which the benefits of the deferred tax asset can be utilised. 
 
Where temporary differences exist in relation to investments in subsidiaries, branches, associates, and joint ventures, 
deferred tax assets and liabilities are not recognised where the timing of the reversal of the temporary difference can be 
controlled and it is not probable that the reversal will occur in the foreseeable future. 
 
Current tax assets and liabilities are offset where a legally enforceable right of set-off exists and it is intended that net 
settlement or simultaneous realisation and settlement of the respective asset and liability will occur.  Deferred tax assets and 
liabilities are offset where a legally enforceable right of set-off exists, the deferred tax assets and liabilities relate to income 
taxes levied by the same taxation authority on either the same taxable entity or different taxable entities where it is intended 
that net settlement or simultaneous realisation and settlement of the respective asset and liability will occur in future periods 
in which significant amounts of deferred tax assets or liabilities are expected to be recovered or settled. 
 
Tax rates and tax laws are based on applicable jurisdictions. 
 

Tax Consolidation 

The Company and its wholly-owned Australian resident entities are members of a tax-consolidated group under Australian 
tax law. The Company is the head entity within the tax consolidated group. In addition to its own current and deferred tax 
amounts, the Company also recognises the current tax liabilities and assets and deferred tax assets arising from unused tax 
losses and relevant tax credits of the members of the tax-consolidated group.  

Amounts payable or receivable under the tax-funding arrangement between the Company and the entities in the tax 
consolidated group are determined using a “separate taxpayer within the group” approach to determine the tax contribution 
amounts payable or receivable by each member of the tax consolidated group. This approach results in the tax effect of 
transactions being recognised in the legal entity where that transaction occurred, and does not tax effect transactions that 
have no tax consequences to the Group. The same basis is used for tax allocation within the tax-consolidated group.  
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3. Statement of Significant Accounting Policies (continued) 

 
3.7 Segment Reporting 
Information reported to the Group’s chief operating decision maker for the purposes of resource allocation and assessment 
of performance is specifically focussed on the operating businesses in each geographic location. The Group’s primary 
reporting format is geographical segments as its risks and rates of return are predominantly affected by having operations 
in different states. Information regarding the Group’s reportable segments is presented in note 29. 
 
The Group has therefore determined its reportable segments comprise Victoria, New South Wales and Queensland. 
 
Unallocated costs represent predominantly corporate and other unallocated costs relevant to the group as a whole that do 
not relate to the operations of a specific segment.  
 
Victoria (VIC) 
Victoria includes the revenues and profits associated with the provision of the Group’s business within the Victoria 
geographical region. 
 
New South Wales (NSW) 
New South Wales includes the revenues and profits associated with the provision of the Group’s business within the New 
South Wales geographical region. 
 
Queensland (QLD) 
Queensland includes the revenues and profits associated with the provision of the Group’s business within the Queensland 
geographical region. 
 
Segment revenue, expense and segment result include transfers between business segments. Those transfers are eliminated 
on consolidation. 
 
3.8 Revenue and Other income 
Revenue is recognised when it is probable that the economic benefit will flow to the Group and the revenue can be reliably 
measured. Revenue is measured at the fair value of the consideration received or receivable. 
 
Revenue 
Fleet revenue 
Fleet revenue is generated by allowing drivers to use the group’s fleet. The agreed fee, which can be fixed or revenue share 
depending on the market and the vehicle driver’s preference, is paid by vehicle driver to the fleet operator based upon the 
period of time the vehicle is made available to the driver. Revenue is recognised over the period which the vehicle has been 
provided to the driver. 
 
Service revenue (mechanical/panel) 
Service revenue is generated for work performed on third party vehicles. Service revenue is recognised based upon the 
percentage completion of the work requested, measured by reference to labour hours incurred to date as a percentage of 
estimated total labour hours. Revenue arising from the sale of parts fitted to customers’ vehicles during service is recognised 
upon delivery of the fitted parts to the customer upon completion of the service. 
 
Income 
Accident recovery income 
In the event of P2P Transport vehicles being involved in an accident, the cost of repairs are recovered from the “at fault 
party” or the insurer, as appropriate. Income is recognized when the amount recoverable can be reliably estimated. 
 
Interest income 
Interest income is recognised as interest accrues using the effective interest method. This is a method of calculating the 
amortised cost of a financial asset and allocating the interest income over the relevant period using the effective interest 
rate, which is the rate that exactly discounts estimated future cash receipts through the expected life of the financial asset to 
the net carrying amount of the financial asset.  
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3.9 Goods and Services Tax (GST) 

Revenues, expenses and assets are recognised net of the amount of GST, except where the amount of GST incurred is not 
recoverable from the Australian Tax Office. In these circumstances the GST is recognised as part of the cost of acquisition 
of the asset or as part of an item of the expense.  

Receivables and payables in the balance sheet are shown inclusive of GST. 

Cash flows are included in the cash flow statement on a gross basis, except for the GST component of investing and 
financing activities, which are disclosed as operating cash flows.  

The net amount of GST recoverable from, or payable to, the taxation authority is included with other receivables or payables 
in the balance sheet. 
 
3.10 Borrowing Costs 
Borrowing costs are recognised as an expense in the period in which they are incurred. 
 
3.11 Leases 
Leases where substantially all the risks and benefits incidental to the ownership of the asset, but not the legal ownership 
that are transferred to entities in the Group, are classified as finance leases. All other leases are classified as operating leases.    
 
Finance leases are capitalised by recording an asset and a liability at the lower of the amounts equal to the fair value of the 
leased property or the present value of the minimum lease payments, including any guaranteed residual values. The 
corresponding liability to the lessor is included in the consolidated statement of financial position as a finance lease 
obligation. Lease payments are allocated between the reduction of the lease liability and the lease interest expense for the 
period. 

Lease payments for operating leases are charged as expenses on a straight-line basis over the lease term. Lease incentives 
under operating leases are recognised as a liability and amortised on a straight-line basis over the life of the lease term. 
 
3.12 Inventories 
Inventories are measured at the lower of cost and net realisable value. The costs of spare parts are assigned on the basis of 
weighted average costs. Net realisable value represents the estimated selling price for inventories less all estimated costs of 
completion and costs necessary to make the sale.  

 
3.13 Plant and Equipment 

Motor vehicles are stated in the consolidated statement of financial position at their revalued amounts, being the fair value 
at the date of revaluation, less any subsequent accumulated depreciation and subsequent accumulated impairment losses. 
Revaluations are performed on a periodic basis, but at least every 3-5 years, such that the carrying amounts do not differ 
materially from those that would be determined using fair values at the end of each reporting period.  

Any revaluation increase arising on the revaluation of motor vehicles is recognised in other comprehensive income and 
accumulated in equity, except to the extent that it reverses a revaluation decrease for the same asset previously recognised 
in profit or loss, in which case the increase is credited to profit or loss to the extent of the decrease previously expensed. A 
decrease in the carrying amount arising on the revaluation of such motor vehicles is recognised in profit or loss to the extent 
that it exceeds the balance, if any, held in the motor vehicles revaluation reserve relating to a previous revaluation of that 
asset. 
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3.13 Plant and Equipment (continued) 
 
Depreciation on revalued motor vehicles is recognised in profit or loss. On the subsequent sale or retirement of a motor 
vehicles, the attributable revaluation surplus remaining in the motor vehicles revaluation reserve is transferred directly to 
retained earnings. 

Plant and equipment is measured on the cost basis less depreciation and impairment losses. Plant and equipment is measured 
initially at cost. Cost includes all directly attributable expenditure incurred including costs to get the asset ready for its use 
as intended by management and if applicable, cost includes an estimate of any expenditure expected to be incurred at the 
end of the asset’s useful life.  

 

The following useful lives are used in the calculation of depreciation: 

Plant and equipment   3 – 15 years 

Furniture and fittings   3 – 15 years 

Motor Vehicles    8 years  

Leasehold improvements   Lease period  

 

The carrying amount of plant and equipment is reviewed annually by directors for indications of impairment. If any such 
indications exist, an impairment test is carried out, and any impairment losses on the assets are recognised in profit or loss. 

Subsequent costs are included in the asset’s carrying amount or recognised as a separate asset, as appropriate, only when it 
is probable that future economic benefits associated with the item will flow to the Group and the cost of the item can be 
measured reliably. All other repairs and maintenance are charged to profit on loss during the financial period in which they 
are incurred.  

The depreciable amount of all fixed assets is depreciated on a straight-line or diminishing value basis over their useful lives 
(commencing from the time the asset is ready for use). Leasehold improvements are depreciated over the shorter of either 
the unexpired period of the lease or the estimated useful lives of the improvements.  

The depreciable amount is the carrying value of the asset less estimated residual amounts. The residual amount is based on 
what a similar asset of the expected condition of the asset at the end of its useful life could be sold for.  

The assets’ residual values and useful lives are reviewed, and adjusted if appropriate, at each balance sheet date. 
 
3.14 Financial Instruments 

Financial assets and financial liabilities are recognised when a group entity becomes a party to the contractual provisions of 
the instrument. 
 
Financial assets and financial liabilities are initially measured at fair value. Transaction costs that are directly attributable 
to the acquisition or issue of financial assets and financial liabilities (other than financial assets and financial liabilities at 
fair value through profit or loss) are added to or deducted from the fair value of the financial assets or financial liabilities, 
as appropriate, on initial recognition. Transaction costs directly attributable to the acquisition of financial assets or financial 
liabilities at fair value through profit or loss are recognised immediately in profit or loss. 
 
Financial assets 
Loans and receivables 
Trade receivables, loans, and other receivables that have fixed or determinable payments that are not quoted in an active 
market are classified as ‘loans and receivables’. Loans and receivables are measured at amortised cost using the effective 
interest method, less any impairment. Interest income is recognised by applying the effective interest rate, except for short 
term receivables when the effect of discounting is immaterial. 
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3.14 Financial Instruments (continued) 
 
The amortised cost of a financial asset is the amount initially recognised minus principal repayments, plus or minus 
cumulative amortisation of any difference between the initial amount and the maturity amount and minus any write-down 
for impairment. 
 
Impairment of financial assets 
Financial assets are assessed for indicators of impairment at the end of each reporting period. Financial assets are impaired 
when there is objective evidence that, as a result of one or more events that occurred after the initial recognition of the 
financial asset, the estimated future cash flows of the investment have been affected. 
 
Derecognition of financial assets 
The Group derecognises a financial asset when the contractual rights to the cash flows from the asset  expire, or when it 
transfers the financial asset and substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership of the asset to another party. 
 
Financial liabilities and equity instruments 
Classification as debt or equity 
Debt and equity instruments issued by a group entity are classified as either financial liabilities or as equity in accordance 
with the substance of the contractual arrangements and the definitions of a financial liability and an equity instrument. 
 
Equity instruments 
An equity instrument is any contract that evidences a residual interest in the assets of an entity after deducting all of its 
liabilities. Equity instruments issued by a group entity are recognised at the proceeds received, net of direct issue costs. 
 
Financial liabilities 
Financial liabilities are classified as either financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss (FVTPL) or other financial 
liabilities. 
 
Financial liabilities at FVTPL 
Financial liabilities are classified as at FVTPL when the financial liability is (i) contingent consideration that may be paid 
by an acquirer as part of a business combination, (ii) held for trading, or (iii) it is designated as at FVTPL. 
 
Financial liabilities at FVTPL are stated at fair value, with any gains or losses arising on remeasurement recognised in profit 
or loss.  
 
Other financial liabilities 
Other financial liabilities (including borrowings and trade and other payables) are subsequently measured at amortised cost 
using the effective interest method. 
 
The effective interest method is a method of calculating the amortised cost of a financial liability and of allocating interest 
expense over the relevant period. The effective interest rate is the rate that exactly discounts estimated future cash payments 
(including all fees and points paid or received that form an integral part of the effective interest rate, transaction costs and 
other premiums or discounts) through the expected life of the financial liability, or (where appropriate) a shorter period, to 
the net carrying amount on initial recognition. 
 
Derecognition of financial liabilities 
The Group derecognises financial liabilities when, and only when, the Group’s obligations are discharged, cancelled or have 
expired. The difference between the carrying amount of the financial liability derecognised and the consideration paid and 
payable is recognised in profit or loss. 
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3. Statement of Significant Accounting Policies (continued) 
 
3.15 Borrowings 

Borrowings are initially recognised at fair value and net of transaction costs incurred.  Borrowings are subsequently 
measured at amortised cost. Any difference between the proceeds (net of transaction costs) and the redemption amount is 
recognised in profit or loss over the period of the borrowings using the effective interest method.  Fees paid on the 
establishment of loan facilities are recognised as transaction costs of the loan to the extent that it is probable that some or 
all of the facility will be drawn down.  In this case, the fee is deferred until the draw down occurs.  To the extent there is no 
evidence that it is probable that some or all of the facility will be drawn down, the fee is capitalised as a prepayment for 
liquidity services and amortised over the period of the facility to which it relates. 
 
3.16 Investment in Associates 

An associate is an entity over which the Group has significant influence. Significant influence is the power to participate in 
the financial and operating policy decisions of the investee but is not control or joint control over those policies. 
 
The results and assets and liabilities of associates are incorporated in these consolidated financial statements using the equity 
method of accounting. Under the equity method, an investment in an associate or a joint venture is initially recognised in 
the consolidated statement of financial position at cost and adjusted thereafter to recognise the Group's share of the profit 
or loss and other comprehensive income of the associate. 
 
 
3.17 Impairment of Assets 
At the end of each reporting period, the Group reviews the carrying amounts of its tangible and intangible assets to determine 
whether there is any indication that those assets have suffered an impairment loss. If any such indication exists, the 
recoverable amount of the asset is estimated in order to determine the extent of the impairment loss (if any). When it is not 
possible to estimate the recoverable amount of an individual asset, the Group estimates the recoverable amount of the cash-
generating unit to which the asset belongs. When a reasonable and consistent basis of allocation can be identified, corporate 
assets are also allocated to individual cash-generating units, or otherwise they are allocated to the smallest group of cash-
generating units for which a reasonable and consistent allocation basis can be identified. 
 
Intangible assets with indefinite useful lives and intangible assets not yet available for use are tested for impairment at least 
annually, and whenever there is an indication that the asset may be impaired.  
 
Recoverable amount is the higher of fair value less costs of disposal and value in use. In assessing value in use, the estimated 
future cash flows are discounted to their present value using a pre-tax discount rate that reflects current market assessments 
of the time value of money and the risks specific to the asset for which the estimates of future cash flows have not been 
adjusted. 
  
If the recoverable amount of an asset (or cash-generating unit) is estimated to be less than its carrying amount, the carrying 
amount of the asset (or cash-generating unit) is reduced to its recoverable amount. An impairment loss is recognised 
immediately in profit or loss, unless the relevant asset is carried at a revalued amount, in which case the impairment loss is 
treated as a revaluation decrease. 
 
When an impairment loss subsequently reverses, the carrying amount of the asset (or cash-generating unit) is increased to 
the revised estimate of its recoverable amount, but so that the increased carrying amount does not exceed the carrying 
amount that would have been determined had no impairment loss been recognised for the asset (or cash-generating unit) in 
prior years. A reversal of an impairment loss is recognised immediately in profit or loss, unless the relevant asset is carried 
at a revalued amount, in which case the reversal of the impairment loss is treated as a revaluation increase. 
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3.18 Intangible Assets 
 
Goodwill on acquisition 
Goodwill on consolidation is initially recorded at the amount by which the purchase price for a business or for an ownership 
interest in a controlled entity exceeds the fair value attributed to its net assets at date of acquisition. Goodwill on acquisitions 
of subsidiaries is included in intangible assets. Goodwill is tested annually for impairment and carried at cost less 
accumulated impairment losses.  
 
For the purposes of impairment testing, goodwill is allocated to each of the Group's cash-generating units (or groups of 
cash-generating units) that is expected to benefit from the synergies of the combination.  
 
A cash-generating unit to which goodwill has been allocated is tested for impairment annually, or more frequently when 
there is an indication that the unit may be impaired. If the recoverable amount of the cash-generating unit is less than its 
carrying amount, the impairment loss is allocated first to reduce the carrying amount of any goodwill allocated to the unit 
and then to the other assets of the unit pro rata based on the carrying amount of each asset in the unit. Any impairment loss 
for goodwill is recognised directly in profit or loss. An impairment loss recognised for goodwill is not reversed in subsequent 
periods. 
 
On disposal of the relevant cash-generating unit, the attributable amount of goodwill is included in the determination of the 
profit or loss on disposal. 
 
Other intangible assets acquired in a business combination 
Intangible assets acquired in a business combination and recognised separately from goodwill are initially recognised at 
their fair value at the acquisition date (which is regarded as their cost).  
 
Subsequent to initial recognition, intangible assets acquired in a business combination including software, are reported at 
cost less accumulated amortization and accumulated impairment losses, on the same basis as intangible assets that are 
acquired separately. 
 

Amortisation rates  

Class of intangibles Amortisation rate Amortisation basis 
Software 5 years Straight line 

 
Derecognition of intangible assets 
An intangible asset is derecognised on disposal, or when no future economic benefits are expected from use or disposal. 
Gains or losses arising from derecognition of an intangible asset, measured as the difference between the net disposal 
proceeds and the carrying amount of the asset is recognised in profit or loss when the asset, is derecognised. 
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3.19 Foreign Currency Transactions and Balances 
 
Functional and presentation currency 
The functional currency of each of the Group’s entities is measured using the currency of the primary economic environment 
in which that entity operates. The consolidated financial statements are presented in Australian dollars which is the parent 
entity’s functional and presentation currency. 
 
Transactions and balances 
Foreign currency transactions are translated into functional currency using the exchange rates prevailing at the date of the 
transaction. Foreign currency monetary items are translated at the year-end exchange rate. Non-monetary items measured 
at historical cost continue to be carried at the exchange rate at the date of the transaction. Non-monetary items measured at 
fair value are reported at the exchange rate at the date when the values were determined. 
 
Exchange differences arising on the translation of monetary items are recognised in the consolidated statement of 
comprehensive income, except where deferred in equity as a qualifying cash flow or net investment hedge. 
 
Exchange differences arising on the translation of non-monetary items are recognised directly in equity to the extent that 
the gain or loss is directly recognised in equity, otherwise the exchange difference is recognised in the consolidated 
statement of comprehensive income. 
 
3.20 Employee Benefits 
Short and long-term employee benefits 
A liability is recognised for benefits accruing to employees in respect of wages and salaries, annual leave and long service 
leave in the period the related service is rendered. 
 
Liabilities recognised in respect of short-term employee benefits, are measured at their nominal values using the 
remuneration rate expected to apply at the time of settlement. 
 
Liabilities recognised in respect of long term employee benefits are measured at the present value of the estimated future 
cash outflows to be made by the Group in respect of service provided by the employees up to reporting date. 
 
Retirement benefit costs 
Payments to defined contribution retirement benefit plans are recognised as an expense when employees have rendered 
service entitling them to the contributions. 
 
3.21 Share-based Payment Arrangements 
 
Equity-settled share-based payment transactions with parties other than employees are measured at the fair value of the 
goods or services received, except where that fair value cannot be estimated reliably, in which case they are measured at 
the fair value of the equity instruments granted, measured at the date the entity obtains the goods or the counterparty renders 
the service. 
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3.22 Provisions 
Provisions are recognised when the Group has a present obligation (legal or constructive) as a result of a past event, it is 
probable that the Group will be required to settle the obligation, and a reliable estimate can be made of the amount of the 
obligation. 
 
The amount recognised as a provision is the best estimate of the consideration required to settle the present obligation at the 
end of the reporting period, taking into account the risks and uncertainties surrounding the obligation. When a provision is 
measured using the cash flows estimated to settle the present obligation, its carrying amount is the present value of those 
cash flows (where the effect of the time value of money is material). 
 
When some or all of the economic benefits required to settle a provision are expected to be recovered from a third party, a 
receivable is recognised as an asset if it is virtually certain that reimbursement will be received, and the amount of the 
receivable can be measured reliably. 
 
3.23 Cash and Cash Equivalents 
Cash and cash equivalents include cash on hand, deposits held at call with banks and other short-term highly liquid 
investments with original maturities of three months or less.  
 
3.24 Contributed equity 

Ordinary shares are classified as equity.  Incremental costs directly attributable to the issue of new shares or options are 
shown in equity as a deduction, net of tax, from the proceeds.   

 

3.25 Dividends 

Provision is made for the amount of any dividend declared, being appropriately authorised and no longer at the discretion 
of the entity, on or before the end of the reporting period but not distributed at the end of the reporting period.  

 

 3.26 Earnings Per Share 

(i) Basic earnings per share 

Basic earnings per share is calculated by dividing the profit attributable to owners of the company, excluding any costs of 
servicing equity other than ordinary shares by the weighted average number of ordinary shares outstanding during the 
financial year, adjusted for bonus elements in ordinary shares issued during the year.  

(ii) Diluted earnings per share 
 
Diluted earnings per share adjusts the figures used in the determination of basic earnings per share to take into account: 

• the after income tax effect of interest and other financing costs associated with dilutive  
potential ordinary shares and; 

• the weighted average number of additional ordinary shares that would have been outstanding assuming the conversion 
of all dilutive potential ordinary shares. 

 

3.27 Critical Accounting Estimates and Judgements 

The preparation of the financial statements requires management to make judgements, estimates and assumptions that affect 
the reported amounts in the financial statements.  Management continually evaluates estimates and judgments incorporated 
into the financial statements based on historical knowledge and best available current information. Estimates assume a 
reasonable expectation of future events and are based on current trends and economic data, obtained both externally and 
within the Group. 
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Statement of Significant Accounting Policies (continued) 
 
3.27 Critical Accounting Estimates and Judgements (continued) 
Management has identified the following critical accounting policies for which significant judgements, estimates and 
assumptions are made.  Actual results may differ from these estimates under different assumptions and conditions and may 
materially affect financial results or the financial position reported in future periods.  Further details of the nature of these 
assumptions and conditions may be found in the relevant notes to the financial statements. 

 
Useful lives of plant and equipment 
The group reviews the useful lives of plant and equipment at the end of each reporting period. During FY17 the directors 
determined that the useful life of vehicles be extended from 6.5 years to 8 years to take into account the expected useful life 
of the vehicles and changes to regulations relating to the maximum age of taxi car vehicles. The financial effect of this 
reassessment is reflected in the financial statements for all periods presented. 
 
Recovery of deferred tax assets 
A deferred tax asset has been recognised for deductible temporary differences and carried forward tax losses. Management 
considers that it is probable that future taxable profits will be available to utilise these temporary differences and carried 
forward tax losses. Management judgement is required to determine the amount of deferred tax assets that can be recognised, 
based upon the estimated timing and the level of future taxable profits over the next two years together with future tax 
planning strategies. 

 
Impairment of goodwill  
The Group determines whether goodwill and intangibles with indefinite useful lives are impaired at least at each reporting 
date.  This requires an estimation of the recoverable amount of the cash-generating units to which goodwill has been 
allocated, using a value-in-use discounted cash flow methodology. The value in use calculation requires the directors to 
estimate the future cash flows expected to arise from the cash-generating unit and a suitable discount rate in order to calculate 
present value. Where the actual future cash flows are less than expected, a material impairment loss may arise. 
 
The carrying value of goodwill as at 30 June 2018 was $4,455,000 (2017: $4,455,000) after an impairment loss of 
$2,700,000 was recognised during 2018 (2017: nil). Refer to note 15 for more details.   
 
Fair value measurement of the group’s motor vehicles 
The group's motor vehicles are stated at their revalued amounts, being the fair value at the date of revaluation, less any 
subsequent accumulated depreciation and subsequent accumulated impairment losses. The fair value measurement of the 
group's motor vehicles was performed by management and was based on the market comparable approach that reflects 
recent transaction prices for similar assets. 
 
Vehicle Accident Receivables and Payables 
The Group establishes amounts arising as income and receivable from vehicles accidents where the driver of the Company’s 
vehicle was “not at fault”. Income is recognized at the date of the accident when recovery is considered to be highly probable 
with the amount recognized in income estimated based upon the history of not at fault vehicle accidents. The amount 
recognised as accidents receivable at each reporting period is estimated using the known amount of open vehicle accidents 
and the likely financial outcome of not at fault vehicle accidents. 
The group also estimates amounts incurred as expenses and amounts payable from the vehicles accidents where the driver 
of the company was “at fault”. Expenses are recognized at the date of the accident with the amount recognized as an expense 
estimated based upon the history of at fault vehicle accidents. The amount recognised as accident payables at each reporting 
period is estimated using the known amount of open vehicle accidents and the likely financial outcome of at fault vehicle 
accidents. 

 
3.28 Comparative Figures 

When required by Accounting Standards, comparative figures have been adjusted to conform to changes in presentation for 
the current financial year. 
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Rent expense  1,145 194 
 
Share based payments (note 30) 

  
358 

 
- 

 

 
Impairment loss on trade receivables (note 11)  80 - 

    
Impairment loss on goodwill (note 15) 

 
2,700 - 

 
 
 
 
 

  
 

2018 
$000’s 

2017 
$000’s 

4. Revenue and other income    
    
Fleet revenue  31,284  7,657  
Service revenue (mechanical/panel)  1,439  435  
Accident (settlement expense)/recovery income  (209) 700  
Other income  197  124  
  32,711  8,916  
 
 

 
  

5. Expenses    
    
 
Depreciation of non-current assets: 

 
  

Plant and equipment  3,667  608  
    
Amortisation of intangible assets  11 - 

    
Total Depreciation and Amortisation  3,678  608  
    
Finance costs    
Finance charge on settlement of convertible notes (note 20)  13,956  - 
Interest expense on finance lease arrangements  520  113  

  14,476  113  

    

Initial public offer expenses    
IPO expenses settled in cash  1,473  - 
IPO expenses settled in shares (note 20)  10,160  - 
IPO expenses settled in share options (note 30)  168  - 
  11,801  - 
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 2018 2017 
 $000’s $000’s 
6.  Income Tax Expense   
   
6.1 Income tax recognised in profit or loss 

   
Current tax  99  266  
Deferred tax (31)  (253) 

Total income tax expense recognised  68 13 
 

The prima facie tax on (loss)/profit from ordinary activities before income tax is reconciled to the income tax as 
follows: 

   
(Loss)/Profit before income tax  (37,794) 63 

   
Prima facie tax (benefit)/payable on profit before 
income tax at 30% (2017: 30%) (11,338) 19 
   
Add:   
Tax effect of:   

- non-allowable items  8,494  2 
- unused tax losses not recognised as deferred tax 

assets 
  

2,912  - 
 
Less:   
Tax effect of:   

- other non-allowable items - (8) 
 - (8) 
Income tax expense recognised in the current year 
relating to continuing operations 68 13 
   

 
6.2 Income tax recognised in other comprehensive income 

The components of income tax (benefit)/expense 
recognised in comprise: 

  
Current tax - - 
Deferred tax   

- Revaluation of plant and equipment - 338 
 - 338 

 
 
6.3 Income tax recognised directly in equity 

The components of income tax benefit 
recognised in comprise: 

  
Current tax - - 
Deferred tax   

- Share issue costs deductable over 5 years (599) - 
 (599) - 
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 2018 2017 
 $000’s $000’s 

 
6.  Income Tax Expense (continued) 

 
6.4 Current tax assets and liabilities   

   
Current tax assets  - - 
Current tax liabilities  185 142 

   
   

6.5 Deferred tax balances   
 

The following is the analysis of deferred tax assets/(liabilities) presented in the consolidated statement of financial 
position: 

   
Deferred tax assets:   

Deferred tax assets comprise temporary 
differences attributable to    

- Provisions  374  59 
- Tax losses  -  193 
- Capital raising costs  833  - 

Deferred tax assets 1,207  252 
   
Movements:   

Opening balance 252  44  
Acquired on business combinations (note 19) 70  -  
Recognised directly in equity 599  -  
Recognised in profit or loss 286  208  
Closing balance 1,207   252 

   
 
Deferred tax liabilities:   

Deferred tax liabilities comprise temporary 
differences attributable to    

- Revaluation of plant and equipment  532 293 
- Prepayments 167 - 

Deferred tax liabilities 699 293 
   
Movements:   

Opening balance 293 - 
Acquired on business combinations (note 19) 151 - 
Credited/(charged) to profit or loss 255 (45) 
Charged to other comprehensive income - 338 
Closing balance 699 293 
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 2018 

$ 
2017 

$ 

 
7.  Auditor’s Remuneration:   
   

Amounts received or due and receivable by Deloitte Australia for:   
An audit or review of the financial report of the Company 
and any other entity in the Group 250,000 - 
   
Other services in relation to the Company and any other 
entity in the Group:  - 
IPO related services 850,000 - 
Due diligence services  244,886 - 
Tax advisory services 89,775 - 

 1,434,661 - 
   
   
8.  Dividends Paid and Declared   
 
There were no dividends paid for the years ended 30 June 2018 and 2017 or declared after year end. 
 
   
 2018 

$000’s 
2017 

$000’s 
 
9. (Loss)/Earnings Per Share   
 
The following reflects the (loss)/earnings per share data used in the calculation of basic and diluted (loss)/earnings 
per share (EPS) computations. 
   
EPS is calculated based on:   
(Loss)/Profit for the year (37,862) 50  
   
Weighted average number of ordinary shares used in the calculation 
of basic and diluted EPS  

 
58,791 

 
11,346*  

   
Basic and diluted (Loss)/Earnings per share (cents) (64.40) 0.44  
   
Anti-dilutive potential ordinary shares excluded from the weighted 
average number of ordinary shares for diluted (loss)/earnings per share 
calculation 372 - 

 
*Adjusted to reflect the impact of the share split during the 2018 year.  
 
 
10. Cash and Cash Equivalents 

  

   
Cash on hand 123  - 
Cash at bank 3,495  62  
 3,618  62  
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 2018 

$000’s 
2017 

$000’s 
 

11.  Trade and Other Receivables   
Current   
Trade receivables 1,373  221  
Provision for impairment of receivables (80) - 
 1,293  221  
Vehicles accident receivables 1,470  1,317  
Other receivables 1,001   11  

 3,764   1,549  
 

Provision for impairment of receivables 
Current trade receivables are non-interest bearing and generally on less than 30 day terms.  A provision for impairment is 
recognised when there is objective evidence that an individual receivable is impaired. Financial difficulties of the debtor, 
payment defaults or the commencement of debt recovery litigation have been considered to determine our impairment 
provision.  These amounts have been included in the other expenses as an expense. 

   
 
Movement in the provision for impairment of receivables is as follows:  

Balance at 1 July - - 
Charge for the year 80 - 
Balance at 30 June 80 - 

   
 
As at 30 June, the ageing analysis of trade receivables is as follows: 
 

    Past due but not impaired 
 

Total 
$000’s 

Neither past due 
nor     impaired   
$000’s 

30 – 60  
days 
$000’s 

 
 
61 – 90  
days 
$000’s 

 
 
91 – 180 days 
$000’s 

 
 
181 – 365  
days 
$000’s 

       
2018 1,293  855 358 80 - - 
2017 221    195 26 - - - 

 
Current trade receivables are non-interest bearing and generally on less than 30 day terms.  A provision for impairment is 
recognised when there is objective evidence that an individual receivable is impaired. Financial difficulties of the debtor, 
payment defaults or the commencement of debt recovery litigation have been considered to determine our impairment 
provision.  These amounts have been included in the other expenses as an expense. 
 

12.  Inventories   
   
Spare parts 491 - 
   

   
During the current year $2.2 (2017: $0.43) million was recognised as an expense for inventories carried at net realisable 
value. This expense is recognised in cost of sales. 
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 2018 

$000’s 
2017 

$000’s 
 

 
13.  Other Current Assets   

   
Deposits to suppliers 285  125  
Prepayments for insurance and registration 2,747  - 
 3,032  125  

 
 
14.  Plant and Equipment 
 

 

Details of plant and equipment are as follows: 
    
Motor vehicles at revalued amount 22,928   4,403  
Less : accumulated depreciation (9,095) (460) 
Total motor vehicles 13,833   3,943  
   
Plant and equipment at cost 1,557  552  
Less : accumulated depreciation (1,006) (381) 
Total plant and equipment at cost 551  171  
   
Leasehold improvements at cost 251  91  
Less : accumulated depreciation  (129) (16) 
Total leasehold improvements 122  75  
   
Work in progress 75 - 
Total plant and equipment 14,581 4,189  
   
Movements in carrying amounts 
 

Movement in the carrying amounts for each class of plant and equipment between the beginning and the end of the current 
financial year: 

   
 Motor 

vehicles 
Plant and 

equipment 
Leasehold 

improvements 
Work in 
progress 

Total 

 $000’s $000’s $000’s $000’s $000’s 
      
Carrying amount at 30 June 2016 350  100  77  -  527  
Additions 666  5  -  -  671  
Acquisition of subsidiaries (note 19) 2,709  100  -  -  2,809  
Revaluation increase 790  -  -  -  790  
Depreciation  (572) (34) (2) -  (608) 
Carrying amount at 30 June 2017 3,943  171  75  -  4,189  
Additions 7,811 187  51  75  8,124 
Acquisition of subsidiaries (note 19) 5,680  260  -  -  5,940  
Disposals/write-off (5) -  -  -  (5) 
Depreciation  (3,596) (67) (4) -  (3,667) 
Carrying amount at 30 June 2018 13,833 551  122  75  14,581 
 

 
 

Motor vehicles of $6.7 million are secured against hire purchase arrangement disclosed in Note 17.  
 
Vehicles have been assessed to have their fair value as the carrying value.  
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15.  Intangible Assets 

  

 2018 2017 
 $000’s $000’s 
   
Computer software and licenses at cost 42  7  
Less: accumulated amortisation (11) - 
 31  7  

   
Goodwill on acquisition of subsidiaries 7,155 4,455 
Less: impairment loss  (2,700) - 

 4,486 4,462 

 
The current charges for intangible assets are included under depreciation and amortisation expense in the consolidated 
statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income.  
 
(a) Movements in carrying amounts 
Movement in the carrying amounts for each class of intangible assets between the beginning and the end of the current 
financial year: 

 
Goodwill on 
acquisitions  

Computer 
software and 

licenses 

 
 

Total 
 $000’s $000’s $000’s 
Carrying value at 30 June 2016 -  7  7  
Additions -  -  -  
Acquisition of subsidiaries (note 19) 4,455 -  4,455 
Amortisation -  -  -  
Carrying value at 30 June 2017 4,455 7  4,462 
Additions -  18  18  
Acquisition of subsidiaries (note 19) 2,700 17  2,717 
Impairment and amortisation (2,700)  (11) (2,711) 
Carrying value at 30 June 2018 4,455 31  4,486 
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15.  Intangible Assets (continued) 
 

(b) Impairment tests for goodwill 
 
Goodwill acquired through business combinations (see note 19) is allocated to each of the Group’s the following cash-
generating units (CGUs) that are expected to benefit from the synergies of the business combinations. Each CGU to which 
goodwill is allocated represents the lowest level at which assets are monitored for internal management purposes. The 
following is a summary of the goodwill allocation for each operating segment: 
 

 2018 2017 
 $000’s $000’s 

 
Before recognition of impairment loss, the carrying amount of goodwill  
were allocated to cash generating units as follows: 

  
NSW 4,455 4,455 
Queensland  2,700 -  
 7,155 4,455 
   

 
The Group tests whether goodwill should be impaired on an annual basis. The recoverable amount of each CGU is 
determined based on value-in-use calculations which require the use of assumptions. The calculations use cash flow 
projections based on financial budgets approved by management covering a five-year period. Cash flows beyond the five-
year period are extrapolated using the estimated growth rates stated below. 
 
Key assumptions used for value-in-use calculations: 
 

 NSW QLD 
Average weekly revenue per vehicle (in dollars) 998 990 
Terminal growth rate 1% 1% 
Pre-tax discount rate 17.5% 17.5% 
   

 
Assumption Approach 
Average weekly revenue per vehicle Based on past performance and management’s 

expectations for the future.  
Terminal growth rate The growth rate that is used to extrapolate cash flows 

beyond the five-year forecasted period based on 
management’s expectation for long-term growth.  

Pre-tax discount rate Reflects specific risks relating to the relevant segments. 
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15.  Intangible Assets (continued) 

 
(b) Impairment tests for goodwill 

 
 

  

Queensland 
The goodwill of $2,700,000 associated with the Queensland CGU arose through the acquisition of BWT Group and 
Professional Taxis in the current year as disclosed in Note 19. After consideration of current year financial outcomes and 
future expected performance, the goodwill balance has been impaired in full at 30 June 2018. No other write down of the 
assets of the Queensland CGU is considered necessary. The recoverable amount of the Queensland CGU amounted to 
$5,850,000 at 30 June 2018. 
 
Impact of possible changes in key assumptions:   
 
NSW 
As at 30 June 2018 the estimated recoverable amount of the Group’s operations in NSW exceed its carrying values by 
$1,910,000.  
 
A reduction in the forecast average weekly revenue per vehicle to $981 would result in the recoverable amount of the CGU 
being equal to the carrying amount. The directors believe that any reasonably possible change in the other key assumptions 
on which recoverable amount is based would not cause the ‘NSW' carrying amount to exceed its recoverable amount. 
 

 
 2018 2017 
 $’000 $’000 
 
16.  Trade and Other Payables   
   
Current   
Unsecured liabilities   
Trade payables 2,454  279  
Vehicles accidents payable 620  323  
Sundry payables and accrued expenses 1,174  1,942  

 4,248  2,544  
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 2018 2017 
 $’000 $’000 
 
17.  Borrowings  
 
Current 

  

Secured liabilities   
Gross hire purchase liabilities 1,961  919  
Less deferred charges (273) (32) 
 1,688  887  
Unsecured liabilities   
Insurance premiums funding facility 1,540  -  
Less deferred charges (150) - 
 1,390 - 
 3,078  887  
   
Non-Current   
Secured liabilities   
Gross hire purchase liabilities 3,862  717  
Less deferred charges (196) (59) 
 3,666  658  
Total borrowings 6,744  1,545  

 
 
The Group's obligations under hire purchase contracts are secured by the lessor's title to certain motor vehicles in Note 14. 
 
Borrowings maturity analysis is disclosed in Note 28 to the consolidated financial statements. 
 
During the year, the Group signed a revolving equipment finance facility with Westpac of $10 million. As at 30 June 2018, unused 
balance of this facility amounted to $7 million. The facility can be drawn down to finance new and currently owned vehicles. The 
revolving facility is secured by an interlocking guarantee from P2P group entities supported by fixed charge over each vehicle 
financed.   
 
 
18.  Provisions   
   
Current   
Employee benefits 973  89  
   
Non-Current   
Employee benefits 145  14  

 
 
Provision for long-term employee benefits 
A provision has been recognised for employee entitlements relating to long service leave. In calculating the present value of future 
cash flows in respect of long service leave, the probability of long service leave being taken is based on historical data. The 
measurement and recognition criteria relating to employee benefits have been included in Note 3.20 to this report. 
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19.  Business Combinations 
 
30 June 2018 
 
On 30 September 2017, P2P Transport acquired the trade and assets of Australia Wide Chauffer Cars Pty Ltd (“AWCC”), 
comprising 6 vehicles and the trade assets and employees of the business. 
 
On 26 October 2017, P2P Transport acquired all of the issued shares in Black & White Taxi Management Pty Ltd, A.B.C. 
Bodyworks Pty Ltd, and Taxis QLD Pty Ltd (collectively, BWT Group). 
 
On 12 January 2018, P2P Transport acquired the trade and assets of Animeer Pty Ltd (trading as “Professional Taxis Gold 
Coast” or “Professional Taxis”), comprising 89 vehicles and the related trade assets and employees of the business.  
 
All of these entities run integrated fleet management services across Australia and the acquisitions have significantly 
increased the group’s market share in this industry. In addition, the group expects to reduce costs through economies of 
scale.      
 
The goodwill of $2,696,000 arose from the acquisition consists largely of the synergies and economies of scale expected 
from combining the operations of the whole group.    
    
None of the goodwill recognised is expected to be deductible for income tax purposes. The following table summarises the 
consideration paid for the group and the amounts of the assets acquired and liabilities assumed recognised at the acquisition 
date.    
 

Consideration transferred      

  
BWT 

Group AWCC 
Professional 

Taxis Total 
  $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 
Cash consideration  5,569 280 1,781 7,630 
Issue of shares as consideration  650 100 - 750 
Fair value of shares to be issued as 
consideration  

 
- 

 
-  

 
200 

 
200 

Contingent consideration   180 -  - 180 
Total consideration transferred  6,399  380  1,981  8,760  

 
The number of shares issued for BWT group and AWCC as consideration were based on the published share price on 
the date of completion of the initial public offering of $1.32 per share. 
 
Fair value of shares under issue for Professional Taxis as consideration was based on a share price of $1.32 per share. 
 
Under the contingent consideration arrangement, the Group is required to pay the vendors of BWT Group an additional 
$1.0m if BWT Group's pre-determined EBITDA target is achieved for the year following the acquisition. The directors 
have estimated that the fair value of the contingent consideration obligation is $180,000 at the date of acquisition and at 
30 June 2018. 
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19.  Business Combinations (continued) 
 
Fair value of assets acquired and liabilities assumed at the date of acquisitions was as follows: 
      

  
BWT 

Group AWCC 
Professional 

Taxis Total 
  $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 
Assets      
Cash and cash equivalents   378 -  -  378 
Trade and other receivables  1,495 30 217  1,742 
Inventories  248 -  169  417 
Plant and equipment  4,441 366 1,133  5,940 
Deferred tax assets  41 6 23 70 
Identifiable intangible assets  17 -  -  17 
      
Liabilities      
Trade and other payables  (656) -  -  (656) 
Deferred tax liabilities   (151) -  -  (151) 
Employee entitlements  (133) (22) (78) (233) 
Borrowings  (1,464) -  -  (1,464) 

  4,216  380  1,464  6,060  

 
Goodwill arising on acquisition 
      

  
BWT 

Group AWCC 
Professional 

Taxis Total 
  $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 
      
Consideration transferred 6,399  380  1,981  8,760  
Less: fair value of identifiable net assets 
acquired 

 
(4,216) 

 
(380) 

 
(1,464) 

 
(6,060) 

Goodwill arising on acquisition 2,183 -  517  2,700  
      
Net cash outflow/(inflow) on acquisition of 
subsidiaries     
Total cash consideration 5,749  280  1,781  7,810  
Less: cash and cash equivalent balances 
acquired 

 
(378) 

 
-  

 
-  

 
(378) 

Less: cash consideration payable at year end (180) -  (107) (287) 

  5,191  280  1,674  7,145  
 
BWT and Professional taxis are part of QLD segment’s results and AWCC is part of VIC’s segment’s results disclosed in 
Note 29.  
 
At 31 December 2017 the consideration transferred and the fair values of the identifiable assets and liabilities acquired in 
respect of the acquisitions of BWT Group and AWCC were provisional. These have now been retrospectively adjusted to 
reflect new information obtained about the facts and circumstances that existed as of the acquisition date. The impact of the 
restatement has been to decrease contingent consideration by $820,000 and decrease the fair value of net assets acquired by 
$444,000 with a corresponding decrease in goodwill recognised of $376,000.  
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19.  Business Combinations (continued) 
 
30 June 2017 
 
On 3 March 2017, a corporate reorganisation took place to prepare the Group for listing on the Australian Securities 
Exchange (ASX). As a result of the reorganisation, Victorian based entities (Unicross Nominees Pty Ltd and Taxilink Pty 
Ltd) were deemed to be the acquirer from an accounting prospective of the New South Wales based entities (TGT No 1 Pty 
Ltd, A&S Sidhu Investments Pty Ltd, Taxi Management Solutions Pty Ltd, CabCare Pty Ltd, D.Lee’s Taxi Management 
Pty Ltd and Temptrans Pty Ltd). The acquisition was effected by exchanging equity interests in these entities with shares in 
P2P Transport limited. The fair value of shares issued was determined by an independent valuer using the discounted cash 
flow approach as at the date of acquisition.    
 

Consideration transferred   

  

NSW 
Group of 

entities 
  $'000 
   
Issue of shares as consideration  4,777 

 
Fair value of assets acquired and liabilities assumed at the date of acquisition was as follows: 

   

  

NSW 
Group of 

entities 
  $'000 
Assets    
Cash and cash equivalents   33  
Trade and other receivables  674  
Plant and equipment  2,809  
   
Liabilities   
Trade and other payables  (1,228) 
Borrowings  (1,966) 

  322  
Goodwill arising on acquisition  
 
Consideration transferred  

 
4,777  

Less: fair value of identifiable net assets acquired  (322)  
Goodwill arising on acquisition  4,455  
  
   
Net cash outflow/(inflow) on acquisition of subsidiaries   
Total cash consideration  -  
Less: cash and cash equivalent balances acquired  33 

  (33) 
 
At 31 December 2017 the consideration transferred and the fair values of the identifiable assets and liabilities acquired in 
respect of the acquisition of the New South Wales based entities were provisional. These have now been retrospectively 
adjusted to reflect new information obtained about the facts and circumstances that existed as of the acquisition date. The 
impact of the restatement has been to decrease the value of shares issued as consideration by $847,000 and a decrease in 
the fair value of net assets acquired by $534,000 with a corresponding decrease in goodwill recognised of $313,000. 
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20.  Issued Capital 
 
 

 2018 2017 

 Number $’000 Number $’000 

 
Opening balance 

 
5,800,000 

 
4,777 

 
- 

 
- 

Initial capital - - 5,800,000 4,777 
Share split (e) 29,000,000 - - - 
Shares issued: initial public offer (a) 15,151,515 20,000 - - 
Shares issued on conversion convertible notes (b) 18,515,153 19,796   
Shares issued in exchange services received (c) 
 
 

9,621,212 10,160 - - 
Shares issued as consideration for business 
 
 

  - - 
combinations (d) 568,182 750   
Share issue transaction costs, net of tax - (1,397) - - 
Closing balance 78,656,062 54,086 5,800,000 4,777 

 
(a) Initial public offer 
On 13 December 2017 the Group completed its initial public (‘‘IPO’’) offering by the issue of 15,151,515 fully paid ordinary 
shares at a price of $1.32 per share. 
 
(b) Shares issued on conversion of convertible notes 
The Group entered into convertible note agreements to raise cash of $9,840,000 in advance of the initial public offering. On 
completion of the initial public offering, these notes converted into 18,515,153 ordinary shares. A finance charge of 
$13,956,000 was recognized on conversion of these notes to equity as detailed in Note 5. Escrow applies to 95% of these 
shares for a 12 month escrow period and they have been therefore the fair value on recognition was determined at a discount 
to the issue price on the date of IPO. 
 
(c ) Shares issued in exchange for services received 
Payment for certain advisory services received by the Group was settled through the issue of 9,621,212 ordinary shares. 
These shares are subject to a 12 month escrow period and the fair value on recognition was determined at a discount to the 
issue price on the date of IPO. A corresponding charge of $10,160,000 has been recognized in profit or loss as detailed in 
Note 5. 
 
(d) Shares issued as consideration for business combinations 
There were 568,182 shares issued as consideration for the acquisitions of BWT Group and AWCC. Refer to note 19 for 
further details. 
 
(e) Share split 
During the year opening shares were split so that each share became 6 shares. 
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20.  Issued Capital (continued) 
 
Capital Management 
 
The Group manages its capital in order to provide the shareholders with adequate returns and ensure that the Group can 
fund its operations and continue as a going concern. 
 
The Group's capital structure consists of its equity and net debt (borrowing offset by cash and cash equivalents). 
 
In order to maintain or adjust the capital structure, the Group may adjust the amount of dividends paid to shareholders, 
return capital to shareholders, issue new shares or sell assets to reduce debt. The Group monitors capital on the basis of the 
gearing ratio, being net debt divided by total equity. 
 
The gearing ratios for the year ended 30 June are as follows: 
  

Note 
 

2018 
 

2017 
  $000’s $000’s 

Total borrowings  17 6,744  1,545  
Less cash and cash equivalents 10 (3,618) (62) 
Net debt  3,126  1,483  
Total equity  18,285  6,112  
    
Total Net Debt and Equity  21,411  7,595  
    
Gearing ratio (Net Debt/Net Debt and Equity)  15% 20% 

 
The Group has to comply with an equity ratio covenant as set out in its bank facility agreement. The Group has complied 
with its banking covenants during the year. 

 
21.  Reserves 

 
 

  

    
21.1 Asset Revaluation Reserve    

At beginning of year  790 - 
         Fair value revaluation of motor vehicles 14 - 790 

  790 790 
21.2 Other Reserves    
(a) Share-based payments reserve    

At beginning of year  - - 
         Issued during the year 30 526 - 

  526 - 
(b) Other reserves    

At beginning of year  - - 
         Committed during the year 19 200 - 

  200 - 
Total reserves  1,516 790 

 
Asset revaluation reserve 
The asset revaluation reserve arises on the revaluation of motor vehicles. 
  
Other reserves 
Equity instruments for shares to be issued as consideration of business combination (Refer to note 19 for more details).  
There are 151,515 shares. 
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2018 

 
2017 

 $000’s $000’s 
22.   Operating Lease Commitments   
   
   
Non-cancellable operating leases contracted for but not 
capitalised in the consolidated financial statements: 

  

       Payable    
       -  not later than 1 year 1,162 446 
       -  later than 1 year but not later than 5 years 3,480 624 
       -  later than 5 years 1,664 1,035 
 6,306 2,105 
 
Operating leases have been taken out for the rental of premises. Lease payments are increased on an annual basis to 
reflect market rentals. 

 

   
23.   Cash Flow Information    
   
Reconciliation of cash flow from operations with (loss)/profit after income tax: 

 
(Loss)/profit after tax  (37,862) 50 
Non-cash flows:    
Initial public offer expenses  10,160  -  
Finance costs  13,956  -  
Depreciation and amortization  3,678  608  
Share base payment expense  526  -  
Impairment of goodwill  2,700  -  
Impairment loss on trade receivables  80  -  
Profit of disposal of plant and equipment  (29) -  

  (6,791) 658  
Movement in working capital:    
(Increase)/decrease in assets:    
Trade and other receivables  (553) 131  
Inventory  (74) -  
Other current assets  (2,907) (125) 
Deferred tax assets  (286) (208) 

    
Increase/(decrease) in liabilities:    
Trade and other payables  764  644  
Current tax liabilities  43  64  
Provisions  782  48  
Deferred tax liabilities  255  293  
Net cash (used in)/provided by operating activities  (8,767) 1,505  

 

   
 
24.  Contingent Liabilities and Contingent Assets 
 
There were no contingent assets or liabilities as at the date of this report.  
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 2018 2017 
 $000’s $000’s 

 
 
25.  Related Party Transactions 
   
The Group’s related parties include its associates and subsidiaries, key management personnel, shareholders and 
employees 
   
a) Transactions with key management personnel 

 
  

Disclosures relating to key management personnel are set out below and the remuneration report in the Directors' 
Report.  
 
Key management personnel (Directors and Executive Officers) remuneration included within employee expenses 
for the year is shown below:  
   
Short-term employee benefits 1,281 224 
Post-employee benefits 105 21 
Long-term employee benefits 11 - 
Share-based payments 358 - 
 1,755 245 
   
Motor vehicles purchased during the year 3,430 - 
   
   
b) Amounts payable/receivable to/from related parties 
 

  

Receivable from Ride 247 Pty Ltd*  200 - 
Payable to Ocimad Pty Ltd**  288 - 
   
c) Lease with key management personnel 

 
 

Rent expense*** 170 108 
  
  
*Represents amount paid in favour of potential investment in Ride 247 Pty Ltd, an entity controlled by key management 
person Harry Katsiabanis. Balance receivable from Ride 247 Pty Ltd is included as part of other receivables in Note 11. 

 
**In order to meet peak demands by its customers, the Group has some of its vehicle purchasing services carried out by 
Ocimad Pty Ltd, an entity controlled by key management person Bruno Damico. Balance payable to Ocimad Pty Ltd is 
included as part of trade payables in Note 16. 

 
***The Corporation also has a site in Melbourne that includes its head office. This site is rented from a director controlled 
entity being The Damico Family Trust and The Katsiabanis Family Trust. A lease agreement valued at market rates is in 
place and payment have been detailed above. 
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26. Controlled Entities    

    
 Country of 

Incorporation 
Percentage 
Owned (%) 

Percentage 
Owned (%) 

  2018 2017 
    

Taxi Management Solutions Pty Ltd Australia 100% 100% 
TGT No 1 Pty Ltd Australia 100% 100% 
 CabCare Pty Ltd Australia 100% 100% 
 A&S Sidhu Investments Pty Ltd Australia 100% 100% 
 Taxi-Link Pty Ltd Australia 100% 100% 
Unicross Nominees Pty Ltd Australia 100%   100% 
 D.Lee’s Taxi Management Pty Ltd Australia 100% 100% 
 Temptrans Pty Ltd Australia 100% 100% 
 BWTM Pty Ltd Australia 100%   - 
 Taxis QLD Pty Ltd Australia 100%   - 
 ABC Bodyworks Pty Ltd Australia 100%   - 
    

 

27.  Fair Value of Financial Instruments 

This note provides information about how the Group determines fair values of various financial assets and financial 
liabilities. 
 
27.1 Fair value of the Group's financial assets and financial liabilities that are measured at fair value on a recurring basis 
 
Some of the Group's financial liabilities are measured at fair value at the end of each reporting period. The following table 
gives information about how the fair values of these financial liabilities are determined (in particular, the valuation 
technique(s) and inputs used). 

 

 

Financial  

liabilities 

 

Fair value 

as at 

30/06/18 
$’000 

 

Fair value 

as at 

30/06/17 

$’000 

 

 

Fair value 

hierarchy 

Valuation 

technique 

and key 

input 

 

Significant 

unobservable 

input 

Contingent consideration  

in a business combination  

180 - Level 3 Discounted 
cash flow. 

Probability-
adjusted EBITDA. 

 

Contingent consideration balance is included as part of sundry payables and accrued expenses (Note 16). 

  

27.2 Fair value of financial assets and financial liabilities that are not measured at fair value 
The directors consider that the carrying amounts of financial assets and financial liabilities recognised in the consolidated 
financial statements approximate their fair values. 
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28.  Financial Risk Management 

The Group's activities expose it to a variety of financial risks including market risk (including foreign currency risk and 
interest rate risk), credit risk and liquidity risk. The Group's overall risk management program focuses on the unpredictability 
of financial markets and seeks to minimise potential adverse effects on the financial performance of the Group. The Group 
uses different methods to measure different types of risk to which it is exposed. These methods include sensitivity analysis 
in the case of interest rate and foreign exchange and ageing analysis for credit risk. 

 

No changes were made in the risk management objectives and policies during the years ended 30 June 2018 and 2017. The 
Directors of the Group review and agree policies for managing each of these risks which are summarised below: 

28.1 Credit risk 
Credit risk is the risk that one party to a contractual obligation will fail to discharge an obligation and cause the other party 
to incur a financial loss. Financial assets subject to credit risk consists principally of trade accounts receivables, amounts 
due from related parties and cash and cash equivalents. 

The Group has policies and procedures in place to limit the amount of credit exposure to any counter party and to monitor 
the collection of receivables on an ongoing basis. The Group limits its credit risk with regard bank balances by only dealing 
with reputable banks. 

The maximum exposure to credit risk at the reporting date to recognised financial assets is the carrying amount, as disclosed 
in the statement of financial position and notes to the financial statements. The Group does not have any material credit risk 
exposure to any single debtor or group of debtors and does not hold any collateral. 
 
28.2 Liquidity risk 
Liquidity risk is the risk that the Group will encounter difficulty in raising funds to meet commitments associated with its 
obligations as they fall due. To manage this risk, the Group maintains adequate cash reserves and available borrowing 
facilities by continuously maintaining actual and forecast cash flows and matching maturity profiles of financial assets and 
liabilities.  
 
The Group’s terms of sales require amounts to be paid within 30 to 60 days of the date of sale. Trade payables are normally 
settled within 60 days of the date of purchase. The maturity profile is monitored by management to ensure adequate liquidity 
is maintained. 
 
The table below summarises the maturity profile of the Group’s financial liabilities based on contractual undiscounted 
payments: 
 
  2-5 Over   
 1 year years 5 years Total 
30 June 2018 $000’s $000’s $000’s $000’s 
     Non-interest bearing     
Trade and other payables 4,248 - - 4,248 
Interest-bearing     
Borrowings 3,501 3,862 - 7,363 

 7,749  3,862  -  11,611  
     
30 June 2017     
     Non-interest bearing     
Trade and other payables 2,544 - - 2,544 
Interest-bearing     
Borrowings 919 717 - 1,636 
 3,463  717  -  4,180  
     

        As at 30 June 2018, unused balance of the revolving equipment finance facility with Westpac amounted to $7,032,783 
(Note 17). 
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28.  Financial Risk Management (continued) 
 
28.3 Market risk 
Market risk is the risk that the value of an asset will fluctuate as a result of changes in market variables such as interest rates 
and foreign exchange rates. 
 
28.3.1 Interest rate risk 
Interest rate risk arises from the possibility that changes in interest rates will affect future profitability or the fair values of 
financial instruments.  
 
The Group is not exposed to significant interest rate risk as majority of its borrowing arrangements are at fixed rate, which 
minimises any short-term downside impact of interest rate increases but limits any benefit from interest rate reductions. 
 
28.3.2 Foreign exchange risk 
Foreign currency risk is the risk that the fair value or future cash flows of a financial instrument will fluctuate because of 
changes in foreign exchange rates. Since the functional currency of the Group is Australian dollars, the foreign currency 
risk arises on its receivables and payables denominated in other foreign currency.  
 
The Group is not exposed to significant foreign exchange risk as all of its trading activities and balances held at year end 
are denominated in Australian dollars. 



P2P Transport Limited and Controlled Entities 
ACN 617 760 899 
 
 
 

57   P2P TRANSPORT LIMITED AND CONTROLLED ENTITIES 
 

 
 

Notes to the consolidated financial statements 
For the year end 30 June 2018 
  
29. Segment Results 
 
The accounting policies of the reportable segments are the same as the Group's accounting policies described in note 3.7. 
Segment profit represents the profit before tax earned by each segment without allocation of central administration costs 
and directors' salaries, share of profit of associates, investment income, other gains and losses, as well as finance costs. This 
is the measure reported to the Board of Directors for the purposes of resource allocation and assessment of segment 
performance. 
 
 

Year ended 30 June 2018 

Victoria NSW 

 
 
 
 

QLD 

 
 
 

Total 
Segments 

Corporate 
& Other 

Adjusts. 
and 

 Elims. Total  
  $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 
Revenue        

External customers 5,533  15,331  11,925  32,789  89  (167) 32,711  
        
Results         
Operating loss before initial 
public offer expenses, 
impairment of goodwill, finance 
costs and depreciation and 
amortisation (360) (1,281) (511)  (2,152)  (2,987)  - (5,139)  
        
Initial public offer expenses -  -  -  -  (11,801) -  (11,801) 
Impairment loss on goodwill -  -  (2,700)  (2,700)  - -  (2,700) 
Finance costs (40) (399) (76) (515) (13,961) -  (14,476) 
Depreciation and amortisation (680) (1,810) (1,165) (3,655) (23) -  (3,678) 
Income tax expense -  -  -  -  (68)  -  (68)  

Total segment results (1,080) (3,490) (4,452) (6,322) (28,840) -  (37,862) 
        

 
Segment revenue reported above represents revenue generated from external customers. Inter-segment sales for the current 
year amounted to $167,000 were eliminated (2017: nil). 
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29. Segment Results (continued) 
 

Year ended 30 June 2017 

Victoria NSW 

 
 
 

Total 
Segments 

Corporate 
& Other 

Adjusts. 
and 

 Elims. Total  
  $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 
Revenue       

External customers 5,891  3,025  8,916 -  -  8,916 
       
Result        
Operating loss before initial 
public offer expenses, 
impairment loss on goodwill, 
finance costs and depreciation 
and amortisation 120  664  784  -  -  784  
       
Finance costs (46) (67) (113)   (113) 
Depreciation and amortisation (328) (280) (608) -  -  (608) 
Income tax (benefit)/expense 73  (86) (13) - - (13) 

Total segment results (181) 231  50 - - 50 
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29. Segment Results (continued) 
 
 

 
Segment Information   

  
   

Year ended 30 June 2018 
Victoria NSW QLD 

Total 
Segments 

Corporate 
& Other 

Adjusts 
and Elims. Total  

  
$000’s $000’s $000’s $000’s $000’s $000’s $000’s 

Total Assets 3,874  19,442  7,851  31,167  21,224  (21,112) 31,279  

Total Liabilities 3,481 18,160 4,069 25,710 2,407 (15,123)  12,994 

Capital Expenditure 403  6,399  1,049  7,851  275  -  8,126  
 

   
 

   
Year ended 30 June 2017 

Victoria NSW QLD 

 
Total 

Segments 
Corporate 

& Other 
Adjusts 

and Elims. Total  
  

$000’s $000’s $000’s $000’s $000’s $000’s $000’s 

Total Assets 2,409  8,330  -  10,739  -  -  10,739  

Total Liabilities 1,306 3,321 -  4,627 -  -  4,627 

Capital Expenditure 671  -  -  671  -  -  671  
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30.  Share-based Payments 
 
30.1 Share options granted to third parties 
221,115 share options were granted to third parties during the year for services received in relation to the IPO. These options 
entitle the holder to one ordinary share in the Company upon the payment of $1.584 per option.  The options can be exercised 
at any time subsequent to the first anniversary of the listing date.   
 
The fair value of the options granted were determined using a Black Scholes option pricing model 
with the following inputs: 
 
Grant date share price  $1.320 
Exercise price             $1.584 
Option life             5 years 
Volatility            73.70% 
Dividend yield              0.00% 
Risk free interest rate 2.20% 
 
An amount of $168,000 (2017: $Nil) was recognised in the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive 
income in relation to these share options for the year ended 30 June 2018. 
 
30.2 Employee share rights 
The following share rights were granted to key management personnel during the year: 
 
Grant value Grant Date              Vesting Date 
$200,000 13 December 2017 13 December 2017 
$200,000 13 December 2017 13 December 2018 
$200,000 13 December 2017 13 December 2019 
 
The rights entitle the holder to a variable number of shares equivalent to the grant value on condition that the recipient is 
employed by the company at the date of vesting.  The fair value of the rights was determined with reference to the grant 
value discounted at the risk free interest rate over the relevant vesting period.  
 
An amount of $358,000 (2017: $Nil) was recognised in the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive 
income in relation to these share rights for the year ended 30 June 2018. 
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31. Parent Entity Information  
 
The accounting policies of the parent entity, which have been applied in determining the financial information shown below, 
are the same as those applied in the consolidated financial statements except as set out below.  
 
See note 3 for a summary of the significant accounting policies relating to the Group. 

   
Financial Position  2018 2017 
  $000’s $000’s 
Assets    
Current Assets  14,056  -  
Non-Current Assets  11,623  4,777  
Total Assets   25,679  4,777  
    
Liabilities    
Current Liabilities  1,748  -  
Non-Current Liabilities  659  -  
Total-Liabilities   2,407  -  
    
Equity    
Issued Capital  54,086  4,777  
Accumulated losses  (31,540) -  
Reserves  726  -  
Total Equity  23,272  4,777  
    
Financial Performance    
Loss for the year  (31,540) -  
Other comprehensive income  -  -  
Total comprehensive loss  (31,540) -  
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32.  Events After Balance Sheet Date 

 
BWC acquisition 
On 3 August 2018 P2P completed the acquisition of Black & White Holdings Limited (“BWC”). The acquisition will 
deliver in-house network capabilities to the group. 

 
The purchase consideration comprises cash of $4.27 million (subject to completion adjustments), 4,364,000 fully paid 
ordinary shares amounting to $3.78 million at the share price on date of acquisition of $0.87 per share and contingent 
consideration of up to $12 million. The contingent consideration arrangement relates to two earn-out payments of up a 
maximum of $6 million each payable to the vendor based upon EBITDA achieved for BWC for FY19 and FY20. The 
group has not yet estimated the fair value of the contingent consideration payable at the date of the acquisition. The cash 
component of the acquisition was funded by way of a draw down of available bank facilities.  

 
At the time the consolidated financial statements were authorised for issue, the group had not yet completed the 
accounting for the acquisition of BWC. In particular, sufficient information to provisionally account for the assets and 
liabilities acquired has not yet been obtained. 

 
Greg Webb, Managing Director of BWC, was appointed as a director of P2P on the date of acquisition.  

 
 
Fare Media acquisition 
On 1 August 2018 P2P acquired the trade and assets of Fare Media, a leading digital and static passenger transport 
advertising company in order to expand the Adflow taxi advertising business. Total consideration of $100,000 is to be 
settled in shares. 
 
There has not been any other matter or circumstance in the interval between the end of the year and the date of this 
report that has materially affected or may materially affect the operations of the Group, the results of those operations 
or the state of affairs of the Group in subsequent financial periods. 
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Directors’ Declaration 
 

The directors declare that: 
 
(a) in the directors’ opinion, there are reasonable grounds to believe that the Company will be able to pay its debts as and 
when they become due and payable;  
 
(b) in the directors’ opinion, the attached consolidated financial statements are in compliance with International Financial 
Reporting Standards, as stated in note 3.1 to the consolidated financial statements;  
 
(c) in the directors’ opinion, the attached consolidated financial statements and notes thereto are in accordance with the 
Corporations Act 2001, including compliance with accounting standards and giving a true and fair view of the consolidated 
financial position and performance of the Company; and 
 
(d) the directors have been given the declarations required by s.295A of the Corporations Act 2001.  
 
 
Signed in accordance with a resolution of the directors made pursuant to s.295(5) of the Corporations Act 2001.  
 
  
 
On behalf of the Directors 
 
 

 
 
 
Matthew Reynolds  
Chairman 
Dated this 27 September 2018 
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Shareholder Information 
 
Stock Exchange Listing 

P2P Transport Limited’s shares are listed on the Australian Securities Exchange (ASX) under the code P2P. 
 
The shareholder information set out below was current at 15 August 2018. 
 
There were 718 holders of ordinary shares in the Company.  These shareholders held 83,220,062 ordinary shares. All issued 
ordinary shares carry one vote per share. 
 
Distribution of Ordinary Shares 

Holdings Ranges Holders Total Units 

% of Issued  

Capital 

1-1,000 53                      31,566  0.04% 
1,001-5,000 107                    320,646  0.39% 
5,001-10,000 119               963,879  1.16% 
10,001-100,000 356               11,173,130  13.43% 
100,001 and over 83               70,730,841  84.99% 
Totals 718               83,220,062  100 

 

 
Substantial Shareholder as at 15 August 2018: 

 

Shareholder 

 

Number of shares held 

% of Issued  

Capital 

IRONBARK FINANCIAL SERVICES PTY 
LIMITED 

5,965,909 7.2% 

D'AMICO ENTERPRISES PTY LTD 5,434,742 6.5% 

HE & N INVESTMENTS PTY LTD  5,434,742 6.5% 

  

Restricted Securities as at 15 August 2018: 

 
 

Class 

 

Number of Shares 

% of Issued  

Capital 

12 Month Escrow - fully paid ordinary shares 27,210,598 32.7% 

24 Month Escrow - fully paid ordinary shares 27,840,000 33.5% 
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Twenty Largest Shareholders at 15 August 2018: 

 
  

 

Number of fully 
paid Ordinary 

Shares 

% of Issued  

Capital 

1 IRONBARK FINANCIAL SERVICES PTY LIMITED  5,965,909  7.17% 
2 HE & N INVESTMENTS PTY LTD- THE KATSIABANIS  5,434,742  6.53% 
3 D'AMICO ENTERPRISES PTY LTD- THE D'AMICO FAMILY  5,434,742  6.53% 
4 GARY DEIGAN  4,176,000  5.02% 
5 THOMAS VARGA  4,074,960  4.90% 
6 PAUL BARTON  3,340,800  4.01% 
7 BLOWING DUST PTY LTD- C&A MCKENZIE SUPER FUND  2,784,090  3.35% 
8 MR THOMAS JOSEPH VARGA- TTTV FAMILY SUPER FUND   2,328,240  2.80% 
9 P2P INFRASTRUCTURE PTY LTD  1,956,075  2.35% 
10 UBS NOMINEES PTY LTD  1,903,030  2.29% 
11 MERRILL LYNCH (AUSTRALIA) NOMINEES PTY LIMITED  1,735,136  2.08% 
12 RAYAN INVESTMENTS PTY LTD- RAYAN INVESTMENTS  1,702,106  2.05% 
13 J P MORGAN NOMINEES AUSTRALIA LIMITED  1,618,838  1.95% 
14 HGT INVESTMENTS PTY LTD  1,600,000  1.92% 
15 MERRILL LYNCH (AUSTRALIA) NOMINEES PTY LTD -

REGAL EMERGING COMP FND2 
 1,439,394  1.73% 

16 BT PORTFOLIO SERVICES LIMITED- WARRELL HOLDINGS 
S/F 

 1,400,000  1.68% 

17 AUSTRALIAN PROPERTY RESERVE PTY LTD -
AUSTRALIAN PROPERTY UNIT  

 1,212,121  1.46% 

18 CITICORP NOMINEES PTY LIMITED  1,179,379  1.42% 
19 BONBEAU PTY LTD- BONBEAU DOG INVESTMENTS  928,030  1.12% 
20 BRISPOT NOMINEES PTY LTD- HOUSE HEAD NOMINEE  860,000  1.03% 
    

    

Voting Rights   

In accordance with the Constitution each member present at a meeting whether in person, or by proxy, or by power of attorney, or in 
a duly authorised representative in the case of a corporate member, shall have one vote on a show of hands, and one vote for each 
fully paid ordinary share, on a poll. 

 

On-Market Buy-Backs   

There is no current on-market buy-back in relation to the Company's securities. 

 

    

    


